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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at
31 December 2024:
UTRRREZRRAE (KRE) REMB AR (NEE) 7R2024F12831B 2 REBHE :

SIIC Medical Science and
Technology (Group) Limited
EEERRER

(%8) FRAF

Public Shareholders
ABRE

Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group)
AREEARDERAEHE)

AXEEFRAT
TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED

(Stock code: 00455)
(A5 1E8% ¢ 00485)

100%

Yoy Bo-Pramaceusical Co, Limied
ARAF

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
(Note2)
(HizE2)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Limited
RAPEEHRAR

(Note 3)
(P3E3)

Tianda Pharmaceutials
Py. Lt

Tienda Biotech Limited
RREMEH
ARAF
(Note 3)
(PHEE3)

(Tianda Phamaceuicals
(Hong Kong) Limited
RRRE
(B ERAF
(Note 3)
(WEE3)

Tianda Realty Limited
(Note2)

(MaE2)

Tianda Healthcare
Investment Limited

(Note2)
(PEE2)

TendaPhamaceuticals
(Yunnan) Limited"
RABE (28) F
(Note'5)
(FifiES)

9990%
Tianda Chiese Medcine Liied
Sar icina Chinesa
Tenca Liniaca
RAFRER
Doed)
(BiiEd)

010%

100%

100%

Tianda Phamaceutcals
(China) Ltd*

RRER
(REDARAF

Tienda Phamaceuticals
(Zhuhai L6
RARE(RE)
HRDF

(Note 5)
(Mazs)

TOMal (Group) Limited
0.10% | Socedade TOVel (Gugo) Lz 100%
i/‘fﬁfﬁl&?ﬁﬂgﬁﬂ

‘Tianda Phamaceutcal

Technology (Zhuhai)
100% Co. i

“TOMal (China)
RAM(PR)ERAF

(Note5)
(Fif5E6)

100%

Znuhai TDMal Lid*

WERAEARAR
ole 5)
(Fif55)

Guangzhou TOMallLtg*
BEMAATEERAR
(Note 5)
(F13ES)

Shenzhen TOMall Chinese:
Medicine Clinic’

“TDMall(Hong Kong) Limited
RAFR(EE)BBAF
(Note3)
(Fif5E3)

“TOMall (Jordan) Liméed

RABUEH)ERD
(Note 3)
(B3E3)

TOMal (Austaiz) Py Ld
FAROBATERRAT"

(o )
(P31
0%
Tianda Cinese Nedane
(China)Lit*
FAGEE(PEFRA 2y .
(Note5) Notes HffzE :

(1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability

FORAFIZEE MM Z B RAT

(2)  Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
NEBEHRHSIMAULZARAF

Medicine (Bozhou) Lid.*
RRPBB(EH)ERAF)
ol (3)  Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability

REBZMRIZARAR

1 eraCss ) I
o %% (4)  Incorporated in Macau with limited liability

FORPIERMRIIZ BRAR

Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
RhEEREILZBRAR

Zhuai Tenda Chinese (5)
Vedcine Research And

FaERAT

’(WE;) For identification purpose only
— = J * R
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Tianda for Health!

| Award & Certificate #2IHEAEG =

Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the status of Happy Company under the
“Happiness-at-Work Promotional Scheme” by the Promoting Happiness Index Foundation.

RRBEEEFBRAREIEHEZEFATHOLFREIFE TZRAOEE -

B 0 1k 28
compANY

ﬁ#@ﬁaq\% » Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the “Caring Company” logo by the
o T ® Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the fourth consecutive year.

I 2020-24 e K e e . . .
caringcompany RAR BB R B RS R AR (75 R R
Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Ser\iice = L dE Lt

SEHERBHSER BT IRES o
@

Tianda Pharmaceutical (Zhuhai) Ltd was awarded the “Caring Enterprise in Biomedical
Charity” awards.
RAREEXE (BB BARADRE KRBT ENBEATEEEOLE KE -

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) Ltd has been granted the drug registration approval of “Nicorandil for Injection” by the
National Medical Products Administration of the People’s Republic of China.

AAREX (BEf) ARADNEBSPEARRNEEREREESERFLENMAN DI AR I EI WSS
ﬂﬂ.*’l‘i o

285

Tianda Pharmaceutical Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. has been granted the drug registration approval of “lbuprofen suspension”
by the National Medical Products Administration of the People’s Republic of China.

RAABERE (B) ARAFDESPEARRNBEREREEEERERNMAN TMESTER R NER
EMEE o
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 55, has been appointed as an Executive
Director since 6 October 2003. He is currently Chairman, Managing
Director, chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee and the risk management committee of the
Company, and a director of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Fang
is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner of Tianda Group Limited
(Tianda Group) (the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
56.72% equity interest in the Company). Mr. Fang is the chairman of the
board of directors, general manager and authorized representative of
Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889, and delisted on 3
April 2024). Mr. Fang studied International Relations at the University of
Sydney and Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate
strategy and management. He also established a non-profit strategic
studies think tank named “Tianda Institute”. With the mission of “Caring
for a Better World”, Mr. Fang has all along provided financial support
to communities in need, including donations to the poor, education and
talent development, medical and healthcare, scientific research and
environmental protection, culture and arts, and so on.

Mr. LUl Man Sang, aged 60, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since 30 September 2013 and is a director
of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the
controlling shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy
general manager of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial
management of Tianda Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of
Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889, and delisted on
3 April 2024). Mr. Lui possesses enriched financial management
experience covering a variety of industries including auditing in one of
the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong and overseeing the finance
department of a Hong Kong listed company. He holds an Executive
MBA granted by City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. ZHONG Tao, aged 52, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company since
29 August 2023. He is the vice president, board secretary and joint
company secretary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
601607, and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) with stock code 02607, which holds 13.05% equity
interest in the Company). Mr. Zhong previously served as an executive
director and a vice president of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development
Group Limited (a company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange with
stock code 00563); and held several management positions in other
companies including Shanghai Industrial Management (Shanghai)
Company Limited., Shanghai Galaxy Digital Investment Company
Limited., and Shanghai Industrial Real Property Group (Shanghai)
Company Limited. etc. Mr. Zhong holds a master's degree in Business
Management from Fudan University.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 48, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director since 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is the deputy general manager
of Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.66% equity
interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in corporate
financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta
in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to January 2022, he
took various positions in the finance department of Hongta, including
deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy head of
asset management division, head of general management division
and head of the finance department. He was also the head of financial
planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013 to August 2014.
Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and master in business
administration at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng
possesses the qualification of practising certified public accountant in
mainland China.

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 59, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and a member of audit committee of the Company since 2004. On
26 November 2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee. He was appointed as a member of nomination committee
and risk management committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited (stock code: 0018),
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 77, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He was admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director
of CNOOC Limited (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
with stock code 600938, and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock
code 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.

Dr. XIAN Yanfang, aged 43, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company since 27 June 2023. Dr. Xian
is an assistant professor of School of Chinese Medicine, The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She has extensive research experience in
the field of pharmacology of Chinese medicines, herb-drug interactions
of Chinese and western medicines and quality control of Chinese
medicines. Dr. Xian is currently a project review expert of National
Natural Science Foundation of China, the general secretary of Hong
Kong Association of Chinese Herbal Pharmacology, a member of
technical support team in Pharmacology and Toxicology of The Hong
Kong Government Chinese Medicines Testing Institute, the committee
member of Deficiency Syndrome and Geriatrics Professional Committee
of China Association of Integrative Medicine, and a member of Branch
of Integrative Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine of the China
Association of Gerontology and Geriatrics. Dr. Xian holds a Ph. D
degree in Chinese Medicine from The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
and a master's degree and a bachelor’s degree in Science of Chinese
Materia Medica from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine.

Note:  The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

In 2024, global economic uncertainty increased, and the market
environment of China’s pharmaceutical industry remained unfavorable.
This was due to multiple factors, including shrinking market demand
following the pandemic, stricter control and supervision of medical
insurance, anti-corruption measures in centralized procurement, and
intensified industry involution. The pharmaceutical market exhibited
characteristics of “overall pressure with partial differentiation”. In
particular, respiratory infection and antihypertensive drugs struggled
to grow in 2024, as hospitals, pharmacies, and households all focused
on clearing inventories stocked up during the pandemic. Despite these
challenges, the Group remains committed in advancing the “Three
Developments” strategy (development of Chinese medicine business as
foundation, development of innovative drugs and medical technologies,
as well as the development of quality medical and healthcare services).
The Group aims to consolidate core products, enrich its pipelines,
expand sales channels, and further develop the traditional Chinese
medicine (“TCM”) industry chain. The Group actively adapts to market
changes, aligns with national policies promoting drug innovation, and
continues to invest in research and development (“R&D”), which is
expected to yield fruitful results with new product launches, aiming to
create new profit growth drivers and striving to find opportunities amidst
adversity.

The Group’s pharmaceutical production and R&D focuses
primarily on cardiovascular and cerebrovascular chronic diseases,
respiratory infections, and pediatric diseases, which developed rapidly
after the pandemic, by continuously strengthening the construction of
an integrated pharmaceutical industrial chain that combines TCM and
western medicines, and synergizes bulk drugs and preparations. By
increasing innovation, the Group is upgrading its product pipelines,
with three new products expected to launch in 2025. In the future, the
Group will continue to increase the R&D, introduction, and acquisition
of innovative drugs, specialized varieties, and consumer healthcare
products with synergistic effects. It will enhance its business layout
across multiple product pipelines, business models, terminals, and
channels, with a focus on exploring the county-level grassroots markets
and online and offline markets outside the hospital. Meanwhile,
leveraging its production capacity and R&D advantages, the Group’s
CDMO/CMO business also recorded rapid growth. Not only has the
number of customers continued to rise, but revenue has more than
doubled compared to the Previous Financial Period, providing new
momentum for current revenue and profit growth.

For the Chinese medicine business segment, leveraging on
the established TCM industrial chain build-up, the Group focused
on domestic and overseas trading of Chinese medicinal materials,
production and sales, and distribution of TCM decoction pieces. During
the year, the business was affected by the domestic and international
economic environment, leading to a decline in demand of end-users.

Annual Report 2024
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

In 2025, while strengthening variety development, enriching variety
supply and expanding market reach, the Group will emphasize on
the implementation of decoction pieces large varieties, actively align
with the nation’s policies on centralized procurement for decoction
pieces by establishing supply bases, and respond to nation’s push
in supporting the development of TCM clinics by creating a supply
reserve for commonly used and essential decoction pieces for TCM
clinics. Furthermore, it will continue to enhance the development and
management of fine and precious medicinal materials, improve its TCM
health products series, fully leveraging the advantages and diverse
values of TCM to realize the leapfrog development of the Chinese
medicine business.

For the Medical and healthcare business segment, the Group
achieved steady growth. The Group’s sixth TDMall in the world and
fifth TDMall in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
- Jordan TDMall was opened in Hong Kong in October 2024, with the
introduction of a renowned medical expert as shareholder. The Group
is planning to establish it as the oncology treatment center with the
aim to build up an operating model of a chain of conglomerate Chinese
medicine clinics.

As the economy gradually recovers and national policies
supporting the pharmaceutical industry continue to increase and
improve, the future market demand will gradually improve. The Group
will remain committed to building core brands of innovative drugs
and medical technologies, increasing the introduction of specialized
varieties, and focusing on a market-oriented, patient-centered approach
to optimize the big health industry. Meanwhile, the Group will leverage
the opportunities arising from favorable TCM policies to advance
the high-quality development of the Chinese medicine business and
promote a collaborative development model of “drugs + medical
services’.

Finally, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
shareholders, customers, employees, and business partners for their
years of support, contributions, and trust and would like to extend my
appreciation to the members of the Board for their efforts and dedication
to the development of the Group.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, through a series of measures such as consolidating
core products, enriching product pipeline, expanding sales channels
and further developing the TCM industrial chain, the Group continued
to improve the operation management in its three major business
segments: pharmaceuticals and medical technologies, Chinese
medicine and medical and healthcare services.

As the aftershocks of the pandemic subsided and the demand
for medicines returned to normal, the demand for the “Four Types of
Medicines” (antipyretic, cough suppressant, antibiotic and antiviral)
dropped sharply, and there was a significant drop in the demand for
the Group’s pediatric drugs, Tuoen®Ibuprofen. Nonetheless, the Tuoen
still ranked the second in Mainland China in terms of market share.
During the renewal of the bidding of the centralized procurement of the
Group’s cardio-cerebrovascular drug, Tuoping®Valsartan capsules, in
Jiangsu Province of the PRC, due to the adoption of the strategy of
lower pricing by competing bidders, the sales volume of Tuoping for the
Year was affected. The Group’s revenue declined significantly for the
Year, resulting in a remarkable increase in losses. Overall revenue for
the Year amounted to HK$329.9 million (year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Previous Financial Year”): HK$532.1 million). Loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company increased from HK$24.2 million in the
Previous Financial Year to HK$61.4 million in the Year.

The pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business remaining
stable, and the CDMO/CMO business growing rapidly

The pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business
reported a weaker-than-expected revenue of HK$283.9 million
for the Year (Previous Financial Year: HK$470.7 million), due to
the impact of the fading of aftershocks of the pandemic, shrinking
demand and overcapacity in the industry as well as the policies on
centralized procurement. The Group is deeply engaged in the fields
of cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and pediatric diseases with two
leading products being launched: Tuoping®Valsartan capsules for
cardio-cerebrovascular disease and pediatric drugs Tuoen®Ibuprofen
series. In 2024, the incidence of respiratory diseases, including
influenza, was lower than that in previous years, and there were
overcapacity and pipeline backlogs in the industry for pandemic-related
Four Types of Medicines, leading to a prolonged destocking cycle. As
a result, the pediatric drug Tuoen®Ibuprofen recorded a sales revenue
of HK$52.7 million for the Year (Previous Financial Year: HK$170.4
million), however, it remained the second position in market share in
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Mainland China. As the cardio-cerebrovascular drug Tuoping®Valsartan
capsules was in the process of the renewal of the bidding for the
provincial centralized procurement, the sales volume decreased as
compared to previous years. However, it has maintained its position
as the best-selling product of the similar variety in the Mainland China
market in the Year, recording a sales revenue of HK$140.0 million for
the Year (Previous Financial Year: HK$186.8 million).

Since three fully automated production lines in the new
liquid-finished dosages workshop of Zhuhai Jinwan R&D and production
base were put into operation in 2024, the production capacity of
chemical pharmaceutical liquid preparations has been increased by
three times, with a reduction of packaging personnel by two-thirds,
and a significant improvement in production efficiency, thus effectively
mitigating quality issues caused by human errors, which has totally
resolved the problem on capacity shortage of the Group’s chemical
pharmaceutical liquid products, and has greatly shortened the trial
production period for new liquid preparations R&D. In the meantime,
we are also negotiating to utilize our surplus production capacity to
undertake the production of some CDMO/CMO products.

The Group’s CDMO/CMO business also recorded a rapid growth,
with the revenue more than doubling as compared to that in the
Previous Financial Year. By the end of 2024, the number of the Group’s
CDMO projects for pharmaceuticals and health products on hand was
23 (as at the end of 2023: 15).

Further development of the Chinese medicine segment with
cooperation among industries, universities, research institutes and
medical practitioners

For the Chinese medicine business, leveraging its comprehensive
industrial chain for traditional Chinese medicine, the Group has
focused on the development of domestic and foreign trading of Chinese
medicinal materials, Chinese medicinal decoction pieces and innovative
Chinese medicines R&D, continuing to integrate special resources in
the industry’s upstream and downstream segments with a focus on
variety management. During the Year, as business partners in the
Chinese medicine segment were under the pressure in the business
environment, the Group adopted a more stringent and prudent credit
policy in the trading business. Revenue of this segment decreased
during the Year, amounting to HK$27.1 million (Previous Financial Year:
HK$48.4 million).
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The Group has focused on the build-up of varieties management
business of Chinese medicinal materials. With the official operation of
Tianda Chinese Medicine (Bozhou) Ltd., we have actively promoted the
varieties management business of Chinese medicinal materials using
this company as a platform.

During the Year, the Group comprehensively promoted in-depth
exchanges and collaborations among industries, universities, research
institutes and medical practitioners, and systematically progressed the
innovation of Chinese medicines, the secondary development of existing
proprietary Chinese medicines and the introduction of phased results
and new products, enriching the product R&D pipeline, to enhance the
core competitiveness of the Group. The Group is gradually forming
a strategy for the R&D of TCM with a view of “stronger R&D, larger
markets and enhanced efficacy”, harnessing the unique strengths
and multifaceted value of TCM. Through technological advancement,
resource growth, and outcomes accumulation, the Group aims to realize
the leapfrog development of the Chinese medicine business.

TDMall growing with innovative business model to promote TCM
culture

The Group created the new type Chinese medicine clinic
brand “TDMall”, with the core positioning of “specialist treatments
and specialized services, effectiveness and efficacy, combination of
recovery and health-preservation, and harmony between nature and
mankind”. TDMall continuously improved its medical system, operation
system, marketing and sales system, and product system, creating
a comprehensive model integrating medical services, operations,
marketing, and products. The Group’s sixth TDMall in the world and
fifth TDMall in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
- Jordan TDMall was opened in Hong Kong in October 2024, with the
introduction of a renowned medical expert as shareholder. The Group
is planning to establish it as the Group’s oncology treatment center to
promote the growth of its medical and healthcare services business,
with the aim to build up an operating model of a chain of conglomerate
Chinese medicine clinics.
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Adhering to the principles of promoting the inheritance of TCM
culture and giving back to the community, TDMall organized dozens of
“Little Chinese physician” parent-child activities in the Greater Bay Area.
TDMall also reached out to communities and conducted over 40 charity
clinic sessions during the Year. Furthermore, TDMall regularly hosted
TCM-themed lectures and activities for various institutions, chambers of
commerce, schools, and other organizations to popularize TCM-related
knowledge.

Expanding sales channels to strengthen its penetration in lower-
tier markets

The Group will always adhere to its market-oriented approach,
focusing on customers and patients, and will continue to enhance
and upgrade its marketing system. The Group will fully leverage the
advantages of centralized procurement varieties and advantages in
terms of product concentration in chronic disease, expanding its reach
to achieve economies of scale and drive profitability.

The Group has established a three-tier comprehensive marketing
network nationwide, covering all regions, all channels, and all terminals.
It continuously strengthens its first terminal marketing team centered
on urban public medical institutions and grassroots public medical
institutions, rapidly establishes the second terminal OTC elite team
focused on the top 100 nationwide chain drugstores, and continues
expanding its third terminal promotion team aimed at small chain
drugstores, individual drugstores and private hospitals and clinics. The
Group is committed to developing a highly agile and resilient marketing
team in line with the nation’s push for the construction of county-level
medical community systems and the supportive policies for chronic
disease management, so to accelerate the development process
of the third terminal and strengthen the penetration into lower-tier
markets, diversified marketing and promotion modes, enhanced
customer management and standardized the market order, to advance
the systematic and efficient growth of county-level markets thereby
expanding its market coverage.

Tianda will bolster its e-commerce operations, expanding
internally the Group’s online product sales and diagnostic service
platform, and externally building an international marketing network
for pharmaceutical and health products, continuously enhancing the
promotion of cross-border e-commerce channels.
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R&D entering harvest period with intensive new product launches

Driven by a three-pronged strategy of independent R&D,
cooperation with external R&D institutions, and the introduction of new
projects, Tianda has continuously strengthened its innovative drug
R&D system. The Group’s R&D capabilities have been significantly
enhanced, forming a rich R&D pipeline. At present, R&D projects
include one TCM innovative drug of Class 1, three TCM new drugs of
Class 3 originated from ancient TCM prescriptions, twelve chemical
generic drugs, and several health products. After years of R&D
investment with accumulated know-how, several R&D projects have
entered the registration stage during the Year. As at the date of
this announcement, 4 new varieties have obtained drug registration
approvals in 2024, and there are a total of 4 new varieties that have
entered the registration stage, which will bring new growth momentum
to the Group.

In the next two years, the Group will have an impressive
lineup of new varieties set to be launched. Among the four new
products approved to be launched in 2024, the pediatric drugs include
Ibuprofen suspension, Ibuprofen drops (deemed to have passed the
consistency assessment, and to prepare for further expansion into
the hospital market and future centralized procurement of lbuprofen);
the cardiocerebrovascular drug includes Nicorandil for injection. Other
new variety is Metformin Hydrochloride Empagliflozin tablets for
diabetes treatment. Furthermore, there are also three new varieties
that have entered the registration stage, i.e. Ambroxol Hydrochloride
and Clenbuterol Hydrochloride oral solution for pediatric expectorant,
Montelukast sodium granules for pediatric asthma and Bisoprolol
Amlodipine tablets for hypertension in the cardiovascular category,
which are expected to be launched in 2025.

During the Year, the Group has accelerated the progress of the
Phase Il clinical trials of the Class 1 TCM innovative drug, which is a
clinical unmet cardiovascular drug used for the treatment of chronic
heart failure. In terms of the R&D on TCM, the Group will continue
to advance the R&D of TCM innovative medicine candidates, classic
ancient prescriptions and improved new drugs with several new drug
varieties in reserve, as well as the R&D of multi-category functional
health products. The ongoing secondary technology upgrading and
development of existing proprietary Chinese medicines and major
variety incubation projects will foster the adoption and advancement of
cutting-edge pharmaceutical technologies in the Group.
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The Group will continue to be market oriented and adhere to the
dual focus of generic and innovative drug development, aligning efforts
in innovative drug promotion, generic drug development, and secondary
advancements. The Group will focus on advantageous areas such as
cardiovascular and pediatric fields while actively expanding into other
sectors, to keep enriching its R&D pipeline.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to focus on solidifying the core market
positions of “Tuoen” and “Tuoping” in the treatment of cardiovascular
and cerebrovascular diseases, pediatrics and respiratory system, and
accelerate the capture of the consumer healthcare market share with
health product series such as “Tuokang”. Meanwhile, it will increase the
R&D and introduction of specialized varieties, focusing on expanding
multi-terminal markets, especially the out-of-hospital markets. It will also
leverage TCM-related policy advantages to accelerate the high-quality
development of the Chinese medicine business, and promote a
collaborative development model of “drugs + medical services”. The
Group will optimize the operation and management system of TDMalls
and improve their operations and services, to establish a group-oriented
operating model for TCM chain clinics. The Group will also monitor
investment and merger opportunities, constantly boost its domestic
businesses, and expand its presence in international markets leveraging
its geographical advantages.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$329.9
million (Previous Financial Year: HK$532.1 million).

For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business,
revenue for the Year was HK$283.9 million, a decrease of 39.7%
from HK$470.7 million in the Previous Financial Year. During the
COVID-19 pandemic, end-users stockpiled large quantities of
Tuoen®Ibuprofen, a pediatric drug. Demand for the product decreased
as a result of destocking in the market during the Year. Sales volume
of Tuoping®Valsartan capsules, another major cardiocerebrovascular
drug, was also affected due to the adoption of the strategy of lower
pricing by a new competing bidder during the bidding for the centralized
procurement in Jiangsu Province in 2024.
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For the Chinese medicine business, due to intense competition
in the market, the Group adopted a more conservative strategy
by selecting promising and potential varieties for operation and
consolidated its sales team, resulting in a decrease in revenue for the
Year, recording HK$27.1 million (Previous Financial Year: HK$48.4
million). Given the continuous loss-making position of the Chinese
medicine business, an impairment provision of HK$1.3 million was made
on the goodwill of Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) during the Year.
For the Medical and healthcare services, the business grew steadily
and, with the opening of the Jordan TDMall in Hong Kong in October
2024, the revenue amounted to HK$19.0 million for the Year (Previous
Financial Year: HK$13.0 million).

Gross profit was HK$152.0 million (Previous Financial Year:
HK$255.5 million), and the gross profit margin decreased from 48.0% in
the Previous Financial Year to 46.1% in the Year, mainly due to the fact
that fixed costs such as depreciation of fixed assets did not decrease in
line with the decrease in production volume, which led to the increase
in average production costs. However, the Group has strengthened its
stringent control over its costs, and the selling and distribution expenses
decreased from HK$186.5 million in the Previous Financial Year to
HK$107.9 million in the Year, representing a decrease of approximately
2.4 percentage points in the selling and distribution expense to revenue
ratio, which partially offset the impact of the decrease in gross profit
margin.

Administrative expenses and R&D expenses were HK$85.0
million and HK$13.3 million (Previous Financial Year: HK$85.0 million
and HK$13.1 million) respectively, which were maintained at a similar
level as the Previous Financial Year. For the latest progress of major
R&D projects, please refer to the business review section above.
Other income and net income for the Year amounted to HK$4.7 million
(Previous Financial Year: HK$8.3 million), mainly due to the decrease in
bank deposit interest rates, resulting in the decrease in interest income
from bank deposits and an impairment of goodwill was made in the
Year.

In summary, the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company
increased from HK$24.2 million in the Previous Financial Year to
HK$61.4 million in the Year. The change in profitability was mainly
attributable to the Group’s business performance analyzed above.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$85.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$162.4 million),
of which approximately 83.3% were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
with the remaining in Hong Kong dollar, Australian dollar, Euro, Macau
pataca and United States dollar. As at 31 December 2024, the bank
borrowings maturing in one year amounted to HK$122.1 million, which
were denominated in RMB and bear interest at the rate ranging from
China LPR + 0% to China LPR + 1%.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded net current
liabilities of HK$35.1 million. At the beginning of 2025, the Group has
been granted new banking facilities of RMB50.0 million by a bank. In
addition, the Group has been discussing with certain banks on new
long-term financing arrangements to improve its liquidity position, but
the financing options have yet to be finalized. The Group’s financial
position remains healthy.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar. The Group has sales and investments in foreign
operations which use currencies other than its functional currency RMB.
As such, the Group has some exposures to foreign currency risks.
The management from time to time determines suitable measures,
such as entering into forward currency contracts, to lessen exposure
to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions denominated
in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into any
forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31
December 2024.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged certain right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment with carrying value HK$259.6
million (31 December 2023: HK$254.0 million) in aggregate to secure a
bank loan facility granted to the Group.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed approximately
701 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms the qualifications
and experience of the employees concerned.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

There were no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
and associated companies during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Year”) except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of C.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. Having considered the current business operation and the
size of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan
has been the key leader of the Group, who has been primarily involved
in formulation of business strategies and determination of the overall
direction of the Group. He has also been chiefly responsible for the
Group’s operations as he directly supervises the management team of
the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the implementation
of the Group’s business plans, the Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) consider that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
has reviewed this situation periodically.

Value, Mission and Vision

The Group adheres to the philosophy of “Tianda for health!” as
core value, which shows the Company’s continuous commitment to the
passion and pursuit of health and care. The Group fully realizes our
social responsibilities and insists on the corporate mission - to adopt
market-driven and innovative approach; follow international standards
and assure quality & safety control; strengthen good management
practice; value talents; enhance research and development; offer
quality products. Focus on cost efficiency and create better returns
for shareholders; improve service to make our business partners more
satisfied; boost up the incentive mechanism to make our employees
more devoted to work. Our vision is committed to becoming a leading
pharmaceutical enterprise that sets its footholds in China while seeking
to expand its presence worldwide.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The Board consists of 6 male Directors and 1 female Director,
comprising 2 Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors and 3
Independent Non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Zhong Tao
Mr. Feng Quanming

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Dr. Xian Yanfang

There was no change of board composition and functions during
the Year. The Board, not being a single gender Board, believes that the
balance between Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient balances that protect the
interest of the shareholders and the Group.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

At least one of the INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, has
appropriate professional qualification in accounting or related financial
management expertise. Save as disclosed in the biographical details
of each Director, there is no other relationship (including financial,
business, family, or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting (AGM), and all
directors are subject to this provision.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure
independent view and input are available to the Board and established
procedures to enable directors, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances to enable
them to discharge their duties at the Company’s expenses. The articles
of association of the Company contain description of responsibility and
operation procedures of the Board. The Board meets regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism

The Board has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism (the “Mechanism”) which sets out the principles and
guidelines for the Company to ensure independent view and input to be
available to the Board.

Continuing improvement and development of the Board of the
Company and its committee processes and procedures through Board
independence evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback
mechanism for improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths,
and identifying the areas that need improvement or further development.
The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company need
to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance.

The Mechanism enhances INEDs contribution with independent
views to the Board as below:

. Invite INEDs to serve as the audit, remuneration,
nomination and if any, other Board committees;
. Encourage INEDs to raise questions and voice their

concerns during the meetings;

. Take the lead by INEDs where potential conflicts of interest
arise; and
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. Keep INEDs up-to-date with the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries so that INEDs may scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitor performance reporting
when (1) annually reviewing the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board and assessing the independence
of INEDs; (2) recommending INED to be re-elected at
the AGM of the Company; and/or (3) recommending any
individual as new INED, the nomination committee of the
Company shall take into account the contribution by each
INED/individual.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of such Mechanism on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
Year:

. developed and reviewed the Company’s policies,
including the Board Diversity Policy, mechanism to ensure
independent view of the Board and the Shareholders
Communication Policy, and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations;

. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

. reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors; and

. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
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All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the FFEEEGREREAEMAATER
Company's performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as ~ H - AR RAIRZEMEN  UEEFE
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. ERERBEEZEETHREE -

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous AREEFMBEEE2HGERE

professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge — %R > UBRBHEZ MBA RN BB
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary ~ X01#f o i EFEEEREA M FEZIE5IKRE
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper #> UBERHBERD THRALEZEER
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well 2% > URKERIBEMES &6 3]
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and RIFGER ZEE °

regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the RESEERNARFAREMHZEIE
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading  #% ' 2BREENAFERNEZAMERE -
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relatingto ~ EAFI R BRI BN R, HH EHBES HEE
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business Il RBBRATLEE R - RNEEHRE

or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the Year. KB —REENEEHES
Directors’ meetings EFEgegs

During the Year, the Board held 4 full board meetings. The RAEFERN > EEGRTURESTE
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows: B ESHEGEZBRUOT

Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors EE HEBTEERH
Executive Directors: HITESE .
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FAXERE 4/4
(Chairman and Managing Director) (BEFERFEFHLIE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang aXERE 4/4
Non-executive Directors: FHITES .
Mr. Zhong Tao skt 2/4
Mr. Feng Quanming BEREE 3/4
INEDs: BIUAERITESE:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MEERE 4/4
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 4/4
Dr. Xian Yanfang KESEL 4/4

The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination EFEENTHIUTEZEZEET RRZE

committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee @ EE - HMWEETKREAKREEEZE T > i
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has B BIFATB D BILIFHITES - ZEZEE
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authories @ EXBEIBEXS ZHEHE > EHHINE
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee, IS EMERIREURBEQNEETZTER - B
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com. REESZHERHE > F2RALSLQEHE
ihwww.tiandapharma.com ©
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Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. Also, the Group’s business are under the direct
responsibility of the two Executive Directors, who are the senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of the
Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Dr. Xian Yanfang
and one Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the Year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting during the Year to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Individual Executive Directors, the Non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the Year
are as follows:
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The work performed by the remuneration committee during the
Year includes the followings:

. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to
the Board for approval;

. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific packages;
and

. reviewed the revised remuneration policy and term of
reference of the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the Year, the nomination committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the nomination committee during the Year
includes the follows:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy, nomination
policy and terms of reference of the nomination committee;

. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors; and

. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2024 AGM.

There was no change on the composition of the Board during the
Year.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The
Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out the approach
on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting on the board diversity on an annual basis.
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Measurable Objectives

Appointments of directors will not only be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, but also will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board currently comprises of six male and one female
Directors. The female representation is about 48% at workforce level.

Review of this Policy

The Board has reviewed this policy on an annual basis to ensure
its continued effectiveness.

For compliance with the Listing Rules and the board diversity
policy, the following measurable objectives were reviewed and
implemented:

. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors;

. at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

J at least 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is

specialised in;

. at least two of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience; and

. no single gender Board.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy. The nomination
committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is
necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional director, the
nomination committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended
to the committee pursuant to the criteria set out in the nomination
policy. Based upon the recommendation of the nomination committee,
the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition,
pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years and
shall be eligible for re-election. The nomination committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the Company, expertise and
professional qualifications of the retiring directors, who offered himself/
herself for re-election at the AGM, to determine whether such director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in the nomination policy. The
nomination committee reviews and assesses the independence of all
INEDs on an annual basis.

The nomination policy which sets out the procedures and
criteria for the selection, appointment and reappointment of Directors.
The selection criteria that nomination committee has to consider
in evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship include the
following:

. character and integrity;

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

. requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;
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. any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

. willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

. such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the nomination committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCESS
Appointment of New Director

1.

The nomination committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

The nomination committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
nomination committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The nomination committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the nomination
committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee and/or the Board

should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

3?2 EEEEEEEY

There was no change in directors during the Year.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

1.

The nomination committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The nomination committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

The nomination committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed

re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a

candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/ or applicable laws
and regulations.

Re-election of INED at General Meeting

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual

as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

2. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity (including gender
diversity) of the Board.
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The nomination committee has conducted annual review on
the structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs, to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations from time to time and
maintain good corporate governance practice.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Dr. Xian Yanfang
and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Zhong Tao. Mr. Lam Yat Fai with
professional accounting qualification and experience is the chairman of
the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the Year, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details of
individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Mr. Lam Yat Fai (Chairman) wREERE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 212
Dr. Xian Yanfang HEASEL 2/2
Mr. Zhong Tao #mERE 112
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The work performed by the audit committee during the Year
includes the followings:

. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 and for the six months ended 30 June
2024;

. considered and approved of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

. considered and reviewed the scope of internal audit,
findings and recommendation;

. reviewed the revised audit policy and term of reference of
audit committee;

. reviewed the internal control and financial reporting matters
of the Company; and

. reviewed arrangement (including investigation and following
action) to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters through
the whistle-blowing policy adopted by the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The risk management committee, which was established by
the Board, comprises two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of
risk management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one Executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.
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During the Year, the risk management committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:

REFER BREEZEGHIT—
REFHE - ERNEZHEFBWMT :

Number of Meetings
Attended/Held
HE/BITEERY

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) HERERE (FE)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FXERE
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEERE

The work performed by the risk management committee during
the Year includes the followings:

. Assisted the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control;

. Oversaw and reviewed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis; and

. Reviewed the revised risk management policy and term of
reference of risk management committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not provide any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors,
such as results of operations, working capital, financial position, future
prospects and capital requirements, as well as any other factors which
the directors of the Company may consider relevant from time to time.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or obligation of the
Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they
have complied with the Model Code throughout the Year.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services and non-audit services,
including reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year
provided by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,390,000 and
HK$340,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 57 to 63.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the audit
committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems at least annually to ensure its continued effectiveness and
adequacy.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks (including environmental, social and governance
(*ESG”) risks) within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks.
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2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control activities
of the Group — regular meetings with each business unit to
ensure principals risk are properly managed, and new or changing
risks are identified.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
(including ESG risks) and internal controls — review of the annual
internal audit report and consideration of the audit committee’s
recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the audit committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance
and reporting, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the audit committee.

In respect of the Year, the Board considered the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management of the Group have been
identified. The Board also considered the resources, qualification and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions adequate. Nevertheless,
the Group would take further steps to continually improve its risk
management and internal control systems.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with
the company secretary of the Company is the Financial Controller of the
Company. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to (i) reflect and align with the latest regulatory
requirement in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and
the electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed
issuers and the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules
which took effect from 31 December 2023; and (ii) align with other
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and company law of the
Cayman lIslands and incorporate certain corresponding housekeeping
amendments, a special resolution was passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2024 to amend the articles of
association of the Company. The updated memorandum of association
and articles of association of the Company was published on the
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and investors, so the shareholders communication
policy is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The objective of shareholder communication is to provide
our shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that
they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
The Company establishes various communication channels with its
shareholders and investors and employs a range of communication
tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include general meetings, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company believes that the
AGM is one of the principal channels for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Board welcomes shareholders to attend
and express their opinions at the AGM. Directors and external auditor
attend the AGM to address shareholders’ queries. Separate resolutions
are proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate
issue, including the re-election of individual Directors. The notice of the
meeting, the annual report and the circular containing information on
the proposed resolutions are sent to shareholders before the meeting
in accordance to the listing rules and the articles of association of
the Company. Procedure for voting by poll had been read out at the
general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were taken by poll. The
Company announced results of the poll in the manner prescribed under
the Listing Rules.

The 2024 AGM of the Company was held on 7 June 2024. A
notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 26 April 2024
was dispatched to the shareholders together with the annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2023. A separate resolution was proposed
by the chairman of the meeting in respect of each separate issue,
including re-election of Directors.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, Mr. Feng Quanming, the Non-executive Director and
two INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Dr. Xian Yanfang, attended
the AGM in person or by electronic means to answer questions from
shareholders. Mr. Zhong Tao, the Non-executive Director and Mr. Chiu
Sung Hong, the INED were unable to attend the AGM due to his other
business commitment.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company is committed to ensuring the shareholders as
well as the investment community, are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to current and relevant information about the Company
(including its financial and operational performance, business plan and
strategy, material developments, corporate governance and structures
etc), in order to enable the shareholders to have better understanding of
the Company as well as to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to let shareholders and the investment community to enhance
communication with the Company. Information shall be communicated
to shareholders and the investors through:

. continuous disclosure of all material information of the
Company;

. periodic disclosure through financial reports (interim and
annual reports) of the Company;

. investor presentations;

. AGMs and other shareholders’ meetings of the Company;
and

. the Company’s website at www.tiandapharma.com and the
website of the Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy on an annual basis and considered
that such policy remains effective in enhancing timely, transparent and
open communication between the Company and the shareholders.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A whistleblowing
policy is in place to create a mechanism for the employees and
other stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties. A designated email account and a
dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose. The identity of
each whistleblower and all information provided in connection with a
whistleblowing report will be treated with the strictest confidence.

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group has established policies and procedures to deal with
money laundering in its operations. In addition, the Group also has
established prevention system by setting up communication channels
for faults and anti-corruption reporting. The whistleblowing system can
handle any breach of laws and regulations.
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FAIR DISCLOSURE

The Company uses its best endeavors to distribute material
information about the Group to all interested parties as timely as
possible. Information about the Group can be found on the Company’s
website including descriptions of each business and the interim and
annual reports of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.

Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the Year, the Group
promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations
Department whose contact details are as follows:

Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2541 6558

Email: ir@tianda.com
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an EGM. Set out below are procedures by which shareholders
may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put forward enquires to the Board;
and (3) put forward proposals at general meetings. The procedures
are subject to the Company’s articles of association and applicable
legislation and regulations.

(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any shareholder or shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s office.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene a physical EGM at only one location which will
be the Principal Meeting Place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene
such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information of the
requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of business of
Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower, No. 1 Tim
Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to ir@tianda.com for the
attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene

the EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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EFEHE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
R&D, manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
healthcare products, sales of Chinese herbal medicines, traditional
Chinese medicine decoction pieces and Chinese medicine, and
provision of Chinese medicine clinical services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year containing a
fair review of the business during the Year and discussion of future
business development of the Group and the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the sections headed “Report
of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from
pages 11 to 12 and pages 13 to 21 respectively of this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the Year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders are covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” published by
the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
segment for the Year is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 22.7% of the Group’s total revenue while the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 6.8% of the Group’s
total revenue. In addition, for the Year, the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 45.5% of the Group’s total
purchases while the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 22.4% of the Group’s total purchases.

During the Year, to the knowledge of the Directors, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd., together with its subsidiaries is one
of the five major customers of the Group; and Tianda Group and Hongta
Tobacco (Group) Limited indirectly hold the respective of 60% and 40%
equity interest in Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Company Limited
which is one of the five major suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 64 to 65.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommended the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: final dividend of HK0.26
cent per share).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 176 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity set out on page 68 and note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for

distribution as computed in accordance with the Companies Act (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands of amounted to HK$290.7 million.

DONATIONS

No donation was made by the Group for charitable purposes
during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Feng Quanming
Mr. Zhong Tao

Independent non-executive Directors (INEDs):
Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong

Dr. Xian Yanfang

In accordance with Articles 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Lui Man Sang, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Dr. Xian Yanfang
shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and
being eligible, they will offer themselves for re-election.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the Company’s Directors,
chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(SFO), were as follows:

EENRN RABRMND 2 Ex

2024128318 > RIBEEFESHFRPE
&5 (FHRAEGIFE71E) BLEREAEEF)
BINEANBFIEEELMZLH &4
BZEE RETBHABRBEEZHMEBA
R AR B K B8 L B 2 R D KBRS
FEE 2RI :

Shares of the Company /N3 )

Name of Director Capacity Number of Shares held %

EEnNR 515 FR¥sRein 88 B5EE

Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note)

B XERE RIELEFE (H#13t)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting held on 28 August 2020, the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) and the terms of the Scheme are as follows.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain such
important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship, with
participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success and
benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit and
retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their past
contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an
offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.
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The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 28 August 2020. The Company can grant options under
the Scheme for subscription of up to a total of 215,004,188 shares,
representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of adoption, 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the Year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liability incurred by him or her as such director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
or her favour, or in which he or she is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

FER

®
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2024128318 » IREBEE SR E K
BB IE A AT FIEEZ T ERRTECM
Fim > FOIREREMEAQARNEEREES
NES%HIIU LB BITRA BRI :

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity Shares held %
BB E 51n Fr¥siein &8 Bt
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note 1)
RREH BEmEAA (H1a£1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note 1)
B XL E RIEEEFH (H1a£1)
SIIC Medical Science and Technology (Group) Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Limited (“SMST”) (Note 2)
EBEXBERR (RE) BRAR BEmERAA (H1a22)
(TEEE&E))
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(“SPHL”) (Note 2)
tBREEERHBERAR (TLBERE)) ZEZEERFSH (H1322)
Shanghai Industrial Investment (Holdings) Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Co., Ltd. (“SIIC”) (Note 2)
EEEX (EE) ARAE (TEEEE)) REZEFE (H13£2)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

AEER (BE) BREEQH

Notes:

(1) These 1,219,579,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. ©)
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly,
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,219,579,370 shares

owned by Tianda Group.

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2)
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST.
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at
31 December 2024, no short position was recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an
annual confirmation of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of these continuing
connected transactions which are subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 1 April 2022, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited*
(“TCH (China)”) for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025. Details
of the transactions are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
1 April 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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The Company had changed its financial year end date from
31 March to 31 December on 25 November 2022. In order to align with
the Company’s new financial year end date, the Company revised on 29
December 2022 the relevant period of the existing annual caps of the
continuing connected transactions so that the revised annual caps cover
the period/year ending on 31 December. Details of the revisions are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2022.

TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under these framework
agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the Year are as follows:
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The actual

Business type The annual cap  transaction amount

EHEE FELR BERXZEH

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi#5 Fi#5

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBERIRIBE - BEER 24,000 7,214
packaging boxes and related 18 RA E f B AR 7%

products and services

On 18 December 2024, a framework agreement was entered
into between the Company and TCH (China) (the “2024 Framework
Agreement”) from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2027, pursuant to
which the Group purchase printed instruction leaflets, packaging boxes
and related products and designing services from TCH (China) and its
subsidiaries. Details of the 2024 Framework Agreement are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 18 December 2024.
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PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 20 September 2023, the Company entered into a 3-year term
framework agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co.,
Ltd.* (“SPHL”). (the “2023 Framework Agreement’) for a term of three
years from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026, pursuant to which the
Group from time to time enters into transactions by providing products
(including pharmaceuticals products, Chinese medicines and healthcare
products) and logistics services to each other during the ordinary and
usual course of business. Details of the 2023 Framework Agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 October 2023.

A resolution regarding the 2023 Framework Agreement has
been passed at the extraordinary meeting of the Company held on
9 November 2023.

As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under the framework
agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the Year are as follows:

e i R YR EC i E AR TS

12023598200 » AN E) B LigEE Bk
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ATHFERERS -

ERFERERSNEAFEZFE L
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The actual

Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EBER FELR BERX5EH
HK$°000 HK$’000

F#ET F#ET

Sale of pharmaceutical products, Chinese ~ $HEZEm « PE KX (RIEEM 38,000 28,334

medicine and healthcare products

*

For identification purpose only

* EEBE




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. Those related party transactions
which constituted continuing connected transactions/connected
transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” above and complied with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his or her associates
and executive is involved in dealing his or her own remuneration.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
year ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY =

To the shareholders of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 64 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024 in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

LXK BRI E B
BB RBREEI7IN
K3 — BE2748
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

REtEE

RRESFEE

MBEFFTEESRERMANEEN
o RABRKIPGREMBRERNET RS
EEMNFR BEEFHREEHRMASTER
HEMBERRRLABRFETRIEN -
RAFEHEESHEHEBNER - 0t
TXEFEREMS @ AN XAREEEIFAN
B EEARET EFENFE -

KPERITARS RSO F 147
BB RERAENE ) BRI ELE
BREAMZEFFENTE - FIL > HFAB
B EERTARYERAMBRREKHE
BEARBNFEMRNER - BtEFHE
REERENTEENER > ARMAME
MG EMBREANEFERIEHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HMEHNFIEERREFIE

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets

JEFENIE R R E E R ETE

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, goodwill and other intangible assets of the Group (collectively,
the “Non-current Non-financial Assets”) as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$537 million in aggregate, which
represented 70% of the Group’s total assets.

FR2024F12831H > BEBZYE - BMEARE - RS
E-BHERHEECEFLEE BB ERBIFEREE)) ZRE
BEEHNAITEEBT & EEEEEEZ 0%

We evaluated the assumptions and data used by
the Group in the impairment assessment of the
Non-current Non-financial Assets, and involved
our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the methodologies adopted by the
Company and the terminal growth rate and discount
rate applied. In addition, we assessed the adequacy
of the disclosure of impairment assessment in the
consolidated financial statements.

BT EEBREHEIFERSIFEEH
BERMERFARANRKMEE > 1L &F
EANAMEEERGHEMATE 2
BTN A E U KRR A& R
FMITIRE o L5 > BF TGRSR
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FREt BN BMEANFAIEERRENFER

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets (continued)

JEFENIE = R E E R (E TG (48)

In light of the operating performance of the three operating segments
in the current year, management considered that the Non-current
Non-financial Assets of the Group may be impaired. Accordingly,
management performed an impairment assessment on these assets
in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 36
Impairment of Assets issued by the HKICPA. In this regard, the Group
estimated the recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating
units of each operating segment on the value in use basis or the fair
value less costs of disposal basis. The value-in-use calculation is based
on management expectations, assumptions and estimates of future
results of the relevant cash-generating units whereas the fair value less
costs of disposal requires estimation of the prices at which an orderly
transaction to sell the relevant assets would take place.

BERNTFEFEZEASENHNEERT > EEERS E5EH
NIERBIFEMEEREEHIRAE Al > EEERES
BEEIASEGNEBEER ((EBETEER)) 5 36 5%
BEREHZEEEETREN G RUEMS > BSEER
FEREEREEFIAABEBIEENNEEGHRLEDEHE
MIREELBUNATNEEE FHAEENAGEEENEE
BHEMREEEEEMURKREGNTAR - B KA M
ABEBEERFNTEEABFRZ HERBEENER -

Given the material balance of the Non-current Non-financial Assets and
the judgemental nature of the impairment assessment, we considered
this a key audit matter.
EFFRIIFEMBEENE NG R AR ETENAIELE -
KRR ER—EMBRNEFEE-

The accounting policies, significant accounting judgement and estimate
and disclosures about the Non-current Non-financial Assets are included
in notes 14, 15(a), 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRIERFIIEEMEENG TR - EXF 5T HIER KRG
RiFBEHNGSMFBIWRRMIEE14 ~ 15(a) ~ 16 K 17 °
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis of forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHENG Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeiEmAHEEEWmR

Year ended 31 December 2024 2 E20244E 12531 ILFEZ

2024 2023
20245F 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
MdEE FEx FHET
REVENUE WA 5 329,937 532,089
Cost of sales tHE RS (177,913) (276,557)
Gross profit EFH 152,024 255,532
Other income, gains and losses, net HEWA - WEKREIEFE 6 4,663 8,275
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZ H (107,851) (186,458)
Administrative expenses THX Y (85,039) (84,992)
Research and development expenses ez (13,283) (13,105)
Finance costs EE= g% 8 (4,854) (4,946)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI AIES1E 7 (54,340) (25,694)
Income tax FRigiR 1 (7,074) 689
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EERE (61,414) (25,005)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS HEZMmEsHE
Other comprehensive loss that will not be REFEBRFTEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent DEAER B EZEH
periods: £718
Changes in fair value of equity investments EEARANEESA
designated at fair value through other Hee2mElimzKa
comprehensive income BREZRAEEES (216) (525)
Exchange differences on translation of the BMBERAT B FEHREK
Company’s financial statements FREEZEREZLE (1,932) (1,477)
(2,148) (2,002)
Other comprehensive loss that may be RIEBHEHEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent DIEEERZBEESHE
periods: V7~
Exchange differences on translation of HRENEB AR MBREK
subsidiaries’ financial statements FrEEZEREEE (17,124) (4,476)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS TEEHERE
FOR THE YEAR k518 (19,272) (6,478)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FFEEREGHE
FOR THE YEAR R (80,686) (31,483)
continued / ...
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Annual Report 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEELRHESERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 B E 20244 12531 HIEFE/ZE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
PdaE F#n FET
Loss for the year attributable to: G ARFERIE -
Shareholders of the Company KABIKE (61,371) (24,155)
Non-controlling interests JEFER IR (43) (850)
(61,414) (25,005)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELAFEESmEEELE
attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company KABIKE (80,643) (29,834)
Non-controlling interests E ey (43) (1,649)
(80,686) (31,483)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO TATIREK HK cents HK cents
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY i 3Eg=1i o 1l A
Basic and diluted BEXREE 13 (2.85) (1.12)
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEEIRR

31 December 2024 22024 12/531H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B sE F&T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRZE 14 349,759 371,346
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 15(a) 36,328 41,392
Goodwill _ﬁgﬁgi 16 90,391 95,230
Other intangible assets EERTLEE 17 60,530 20,677
Deposits paid for acquisition of Ejﬂﬁ%ﬁ%% “ BB R
property, plant and equipment and UEREEERLEESZ G
other intangible assets BE 22 12,138 35,222
Financial asset at fair value through BAREESAER
profit or loss EREE 18 = 9,000
Equity investment designated at fair value EEARANEBESARE
through other comprehensive income 2EBREZBEREE 19 - 216
Total non-current assets ERBEEME 549,146 573,083
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories FE 20 40,209 65,148
Trade and bills receivables FEE AT BR R R FE LU 22 4 21 77,423 104,801
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEffTUIE « IREREE
& W =R 22 11,894 11,505
Due from a fellow subsidiary FER—ERAMBATIRIE 23() 87 312
Income tax recoverable A UK EIFR1E 575 -
Cash and bank balances R& RIRIT4 R 24 85,688 162,442
Total current assets MBEEMLE 215,876 344,208
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAaE
Trade payables P& (T ERFR 25 67,438 106,018
Other payables and accruals HERMHRKRESER 26 46,885 88,923
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEREAMEBATRIE 23(b) 11,659 12,458
Income tax payables FE{IPR1SHR 750 3,743
Bank borrowings RITMER 27 122,074 96,492
Lease liabilities EaE 15(b) 2,192 5,678
Total current liabilities mENBEHELE 250,998 313,312
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE(AR) FE (35,122) 30,896
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT wEERREBAEER
LIABILITIES 514,024 603,979
continued / ...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ErETIRR

31 December 2024 520242 12/531H

2024 2023
20244F 20234F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’'000
B sE F#T FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Bank borrowings RITIER 27 = 8,358
Lease liabilities HE&E 15(b) 3,179 3,069
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEEAE 28 5,180 611
Total non-current liabilities ERENEE4EEE 8,359 12,038
NET ASSETS BEERE 505,665 591,941
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders of the NATIRRE
Company FE(E#E =
Issued capital BETIRA 29 215,004 215,004
Reserves HiE 30 290,834 377,067
505,838 592,071
Non-controlling interests JEFERG R (173) (130)
TOTAL EQUITY EE4aEE 505,665 591,941

Fang Wen Quan
X1

Chairman

EER

Lui Man Sang
axXE

Executive Director

HITEFE
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2024 420244 12531 H IF EE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

FRARFRG
Capital Capital Investment ~ Exchange Non-
Share Share  redemption  conribution Capitel Special  Statutory  revaluation  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital -~ premium Teseve Teseve Teserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve profts Total  interests equity
HEBE  EBftR REE(S EREB ik
[ it B ESHE BUBE  iREE i i REE g B e
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEn  TEm  TEn  TEm  TEr  TEm T T
A1 Janary 203 RInEEA W B f 895 - 3 N (0w My gm o e BUE B
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - - - - (24.155) (24155) (650) (25,003)
Ober comphensie ssfor ~ AEEEE2EEE .
{ne year.
Crangesinfarvalie ofequy — ERARAABEA
investments desgnated AvREbazkE
afdraetoghoter  REZAABEES
comprehensive income - - - - - (525) - - (525) - (525)
Exchange feences on BERRERNEL,
tansation offranciel ERZE
St - - - - - B I N 1
Totd compreensielossor ~ KEERAFELE
e e ; ; ; ; ; B G M B8 (8 P
Aegistonofnon<onoling ~— WEFE PR
s o 30J) (KEE) - - - - - - - W pm By
Release of reseries EHGE - - - - - (33 - - 3382 - - -
Fel diidends forthenne ~ EEREZNNE
months ended AYALAERZ
3 December 2020 declred— FIERE - - - - - - (.5%) (3.5%) - (35%)
A3 December 028and HRUBERENER
1 lanuary 2024 AMERIR 5004 365,103 i §,059" (336 460" nr (1508 (g% Tom9 59,0 (130) 591,941
Loss fr the year KEESE - - - - - - - - S 4 I K] (5 i
Obercompehensie bssfr ~ AEEHE2ERE:
{he year:
Changes i vale ERARLABEA
ofequty nvestments HpRENEZRE
esiated a fi REZAREEES
Vlue through other
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (216) - - (216) - (16)
Bchange dffeences o BEMBRRAELZ
fansiaton of franci ERZE
saenets - - - - . - T T -
Toldcompretensielossor ~ REEZAFELE
e e - - - - - - Sy e ) )
Fird diidends forheyear ~~ BETREZINE
ended M December 005 EMALEEZ
ecled F - (5590 - - - - - - - - (5590 - (5580
1 Decenter 104 RN G e @ S ;ar (o s o s M e
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * WEHERESMN024FE12BNENIERE R

HK$290,834,000 (2023: HK$377,067,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024.

608 ESEEEEE

HRRRA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 B4 E 20244 12531 H IF

Annual Report 2024

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mt 5E TER FTHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (E&:ZEIFRBIRERE
Loss before tax IR RTS8 (54,340) (25,694)
Adjustments for: HTINESEEHEZEE .
Finance costs E= %N 8 4,854 4,946
Interest income FEWA 6 (1,100) (3,032)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off of property, HE MHEME - BEK
plant and equipment HEZEE (K@) 6 103 (141)
Impairment of goodwill HERE 16 1,339 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of financial ~ &RBEEZHE
assets, net (RERE) > F%E 7 (1,596) 1,677
Fair value loss/(gains), net: AREEEE (k)
BER
Financial assets at fair value through profit RAREBHEFABEZ
or loss TREE 6 (377) 1,000
Structured deposits ERUER 6 (260) (711)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRZEBINE 7 28,746 27,642
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEINE 7 6,599 6,401
Amortisation of other intangible assets HERTEEEH 7 2,887 2,364
Reversal of write-down of inventories to BRMAFEERER
net realisable value FE 7 (406) (1,551)
Recognition of government grants HESRBUT#EED (90) (111)
(13,641) 12,790
Decrease/(increase) in inventories E&RL,(Em) 23,503 (18,899)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables P U B R R M R 4k ) 26,002 33,305
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and FEAHIE  RERETEKRR
other receivables o 288 5,191
Increase in trade payables FE {5 BR FRIE 0 4,847 35,484
Decrease in other payables and accruals HE BN ESEBRLD (39,706) (117,082)
Decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary ~ FEUR—FEIR & M B A B TIE
N 208 1,134
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to fellow FNIEE YNGR
subsidiaries g,/ GR) (386) 2,894
Cash generated from/(used in) operations REmS/(FRA) RE 1,115 (45,183)
PRC taxes refunded/(paid) R[]/ (B1T) RERIE (5,959) 312
Interest paid BFE (4,854) (4,946)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REEBMAZRE
FEPE (9,698) (49,757)
continued / ...
B/ .
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 2L E20242E 12531 HIFFEZ

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
fidsE FEx FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R EZENFRSHRERE
Interest received B 8 1,100 3,032
Capitalised portion of interest paid B ENEREED 8 - (380)
Deposits paid for purchases of property, BEWME BERXE
plant and equipment and other intangible assets UK EEER EEFT
T AMEE (5,116) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant HEY¥ - MEKRREEEZ
and equipment FRi8sh1AE 89 283
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYVE BERRE (20,605) (48,898)
Purchases of other intangible assets HEHCEVEE (16,881) (17,003)
Investments in financial assets at fair value REAABEFABRZZ
through profit or loss ERMBEEZRE (6,000) (10,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEEARBEHABEZ
at fair value through profit or loss THMBEEZFEMIE 15,377 -
Proceeds from structured deposits REGBUEEFRZAENE 86,450 300,279
Investments in structured deposits REBUERZERE (86,189) (296,414)
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETHFMBAZREREFEE (31,775) (69,101)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ REEZENFRSHRE N2
Dividends paid BfRE 31(b) (5,588) (5,588)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W B IR 33(b)(ii) - (25,228)
New bank loans HMERITEM 75,915 43455
Repayment of bank loans BERTEM (94,916) (64,407)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEERE 31(b) (6,060) (5,626)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEFBFTREZRERE T (30,649) (57,394)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REkBAEFEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS A BEE (72,122) (176,252)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ RENZREKRRE
£{EER 162,442 340,277
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEEREE) 2 2 E (F58) (4,632) (1,583)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELKZRERRE
AT END OF YEAR #EHIEHE 85,688 162,442
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERFASFEREARZRZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS o
Cash and bank balances as stated in the MBI R RYRZRE KR IRIT
statement of financial position LR 24 85,688 162,442
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office address of
the Company is located Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal
place of business is Suites 2405-2410, 24th floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) were involved in the research and
development, manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology and healthcare products, sales of Chinese herbal
medicines, traditional Chinese medicine decoction pieces and
Chinese medicine, and provision of Chinese medicine clinical
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, which is a private limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong.

AEREBER

AREERRAE (TKRF ) %
RHEEHEFMMIZERRAE > H
BRIONREBHERZFMAERAR (M
RFr1) £ o AAT Z MM E R
#2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands » F EE XM UNBTAPIR
INE 1SR E KE24182405-2410%F ©

ER > XRBEKREMBAR (4%
BINER) REBE LYK
REERZME - EERHEE » PE
MPERRRPENHE > RigH
PR AR TS o

EFRR > AABNEERERA
BIRRBERABARKERBRA
8 (REBEMAILRIMABRARE) ©

Information about principal subsidiaries EREEMBLAGIZEE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at KRBT R2024F12B3MHZEE
31 December 2024 are as follows: MEBARZEMWT :
Place of Issued ordinary Percentage
incorporation/ share capital of equity
registration or paid-up capital/ attributable
Company name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
SR, gRTLERkN AT
GE ARSI BHKRE ZRES AL FEXRH
Direct Indirect
Ef i
RAREE (Bf) BRAF People’s Repubiic of RMB36,000,000 - 100 Research and
(“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan)’) China (PRC’) A E:36,000,0007T development, manufacture
(TRAEE (Ef))) Mainland China and sale of pharmaceutical,
hEANREME biotechnology and
(TehE)) / healthcare products
FEIARE BE EYHER
REERZME
HE EERHAE

=



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REAKREERER @
Information about principal subsidiaries (continued) EREEMBATRZEH @
Place of Issued ordinary Percentage
incorporation/ share capital of equity

registration or paid-up capital/ attributable
Company name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities

AL, BRTLiERkN TRE R
GEE HRREE S BHRE HBES EmEatt TEXH

Direct Indirect
Ef f

RAREE (35 BRAF® PRC/ RMB113,000,000/ - 100 Research and
(‘“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)") Mainland China RMB126,000,000 development, manufacture
(TRAEE (%58))) hE/REAE ARE13,0000007T,/ and sale of pharmaceutical
A E#126,000,0007T and biotechnology products
BEREVRRER
2R AE
LERHE
KAPBE (HE) BRAF PRC/ RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Wholesale of
(“TCM (China)’) Mainland China RMB50,000,000 pharmaceutical products,
(TRAHREE (hE))) HE,/ HEARE A R30000,0005T, Chinese herbal medicines
A #50,000,0007T traditional Chinese medicine

decoction pieces and
Chinese medicines
BEER HEM-
FER R RPENRE

KBRKPERRBRAT™ PRC/ RMB12,580,000/ - 100 Production and sale of
(“Zhuhai TPCHM") Mainland China RMB50,000,000 traditional Chinese
(THRBRAPREERR ) FE/FEAE  AR125800007T,/ medicine decoction
A #50,000,0007T pieces and trading of

agricultural by-products

FERREE

RIFE MR

ERERNEE

KBXKEBRATNC PRC/ RMB14,340,000/ - 100 Provision of traditional
Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Chinese medicine

HEHEARE A R14,340,0007T,/ clinical services and

A E#100,000,0007% sale of Chinese

medicine products

R BIRE

RHEFEER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

1.

N KREERER @)
EMTEMBEATZEE @

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage
incorporation/ share capital of equity

registration or paid-up capital/ attributable
Company name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities

ML, gRTLERkN FRTE L
G AMRSENE BERS HERER EmaAL TEXRH

Direct Indirect
Ef f

XK (PE) BRAFCe PRC/ RMB30,630,000/ - 100 Investment holding and
Mainland China RMB100,000,000 sale of healthcare products
HE,/ HEARE AR30630,0005T, REERK
A E#100,000,0007T REERZIFHE
TDMall (Tsim Sha Tsui) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,900,000 - 90 Provision of traditional
RKE (R7IE) BRAR &8 1,900,000/ 7t Chinese medicine
clinical services and
sale of Chinese
medicine products
REPBRSE R
HEPHEER
TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of traditional
XAE (B#8) BRAT A 10,000 7¢ Chinese medicine clinical
services and sale of
Chinese medicine products
R BRE
RIFEFEER
TDMall (Jordan) Limited® Hong Kong - - 920 Provision of traditional
KXKRE (EZ) BRAF & Chinese medicine clinical
services and sale of
Chinese medicine products
R BRE
RIFEFEER
TDMall (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Australia AUD10,000 - 100 Provision of traditional
BAF 10,0008 7 Chinese medicine clinical

services and sale of Chinese
medicine products

R BRE
RIBEREER
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

*

A

&

#

Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law
Registered as a limited liability company under PRC law

At 31 December 2024, the Group has injected RMB113,000,000 to
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai). The outstanding capital contribution
of RMB13,000,000 to the subsidiary is due to be paid on or before
5 August 2029 in accordance with the subsidiary’s articles of
association.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has injected RMB30,000,000 to
TCM (China). The outstanding capital contribution of RMB20,000,000
to the subsidiary is due to be paid on or before 31 December 2025 in
accordance with the subsidiary’s articles of association.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has injected RMB12,580,000 to
Zhuhai TPCHM. The outstanding capital contribution of
RMB37,420,000 to the subsidiary is due to be paid on or before
6 December 2029 in accordance with the subsidiary’s revised articles
of association.

e At 31 December 2024, the Group has injected RMB14,340,000 to
kB KX KREA PR QA Fl. The outstanding capital contribution of
RMB85,660,000 to the subsidiary is due to be paid on or before
31 December 2030 in accordance with the subsidiary’s articles of
association.

ee

%

At 31 December 2024, the Group has injected RMB30,630,000 to
X ABE (R E) BPRAE). The outstanding capital contribution
of RMB69,370,000 to the subsidiary is due to be paid on or before
22 December 2047 in accordance with the subsidiary’s articles of
association.

According to the articles of association of TDMall (Jordan)
Limited, the total amount of share capital to be paid up amounted
to HK$1,500,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Group and the
non-controlling shareholder have not yet injected capital into TDMall
(Jordan) Limited. The outstanding capital contribution of HK$1,500,000
is due to be paid.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

74 EEEEEEEPE

AERERER @

ﬁ%IEWEﬂ?Zﬁﬂ%)
REREZEEMIABBRELE
N REBREAREMZARAT

& 72202412831 » KEEERKAKE
¥ (%kiB) ;FE A K #113,000,0007T ©
mﬂi;ﬁﬁﬁé’&‘m’] HA A2 4MA) > FE
T BA 1E’Jﬂik%iﬁjﬁ RTAREE
13.;%90 00075?5#2029%)%55 o2 A

# 2024128310 » AEBBBEXAS
Bz (FhE) & A E130,000,0007T ©
REZW B AT RAMZIZMA - fE
TZMBATMNKRBHERARE
ég,{()_?o,ooo:_uﬁﬁézozﬁmﬁ 31AZ®Z Al

# 2024128310 » AEBERKIEXR
chPé?z*" iﬁ/& m12,5so,000ﬁ:°

ZEi T o

e 20244128318 » zt:%Er-‘-ﬂEk;"é
XAEBRATEE
7T ° IRIBZMBATESE B
ENZHBATNRBEERARE
85,660,0007CFEFY2030E 128 El)

o

ee  2024FE128310  FEE BB R KEE
(FRED) BIRAEEE A K#530,630,000
7T © 1RIBZMB & B RVARARE24ME
FENGZMBATINRBHERARE
69,370,0007T P& 522047412 8 22 H 5% 2 Al
F{T o

% RIFRKEE (B BRATMNAEBE
T2 AR B > FE 4 AR 7S 48 86 731,500,000
7T ° FR20245 128318 » AEM K IFE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been prepared on the going concern
basis notwithstanding that the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$35.1 million as at 31 December 2024 and
reported a net loss and operating cash outflow of approximately
HK$61.4 million and approximately HK$9.7 million, respectively
for the year then ended, as the directors of the Company consider
that the Group will have adequate funds available to enable it to
operate as a going concern for the twelve months from the end of
the reporting period, based on the Group’s cash flow projection
which, took into account, inter alia, the following:

(a) as at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
unutilised credit facilities of HK$13,663,000 from
banks. The total facility amount is HK$135,737,000,
of which an amount of HK$122,074,000 was drawn
down during the year and outstanding as at the end
of the reporting period; and

(b) the Group has good track records and relationship
with banks which would enhance the Group’s ability
on restructuring its borrowing facilities. The Group
is confident that sufficient financing can be arranged
from the refinancing or renewal of bank borrowings
upon or before the maturity date.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

2.1

BETHER
ERMmREE

SREE

BEREER2024FE128318 2
TRHAEBEANAISESRBT  &E
EZHIEEEDRREEEFEKRE
BN TRHA6,1408 BT RA70E B
T B E04FENANBLEEEZF
EUMBBRRCERFESERERY
AAB AT ESIATERBREH
K+ —ERBECHIRHESHE
HEEMIFERLSE - BRAERILIREAX
EEZREFEFAEL  IEER
(Hha ) LTFRIE .

(@ MBEEFHER XEBZ
RXEARBRITEEMRES
13,663,000 7T o BE E 48 %8
135,737,000/ 75 > H &
122,074,000 7t it F W I
B BREREHARMEKE
B &

() HEBEERITHFTETCE
REAGRY  AIMEAE
EEHEBEEMENGE
HeoAEBBEREIHH
AR EBRITEER
MENEHRSEREES °

MBRERDREBEEREGANAE
Az EEMBREER (BE2E
EEMBREER - EBEFHERK
2 ) REBRABMROIAIKERE R
R ZFUHFRRFBELNA LR
R MEEERBRAREBEFARER
ER@mzREARERERANEBETA
BRuZzEHEERANBEE - &
EMBRRUBITEY > MEHEE
BASh - FREBETNBERAN T
2o
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

2.

2.1

76 EESEEEEEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2.

2.1

2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits/
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments”)
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

2.1
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTI

2.2 CHANGES

(continued)

NG POLICIES (continued)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
Leases, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.
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Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. TETEER ®

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 it HFERKBEE @)

(continued)

(c) Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the (c0 BBEHENBFIRREE
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and MRS ZERETIR Z1EET
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. BAREERE BN
The disclosure requirements in the amendments BOWRERINEERR
are intended to assist users of financial statements ZH - ZEEBITNRER
in understanding the effects of supplier finance EEEHBMBRRNME
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and BETHREREBMEZH
exposure to liquidity risk. HERAEBRE RERER

REMRERIRZE -

As a result of the implementation of the amendments, HREBHZEEST &
the Group has provided additional disclosures about BRI RR M F27 R
its supplier finance arrangements in notes 27 and 31 IR EELHREMER
to the financial statements. MEZHNIREER -
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following applicable new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

s Effective for annuallreporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

¢ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group intends to apply these applicable new and
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.
Further information about those applicable new and revised
HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below.

(@)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. While a number of sections
have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or
loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities
are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires
disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information
in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in
HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments
to other HKFRSs are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTI

NG POLICIES (continued)

23 |ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL

(b)

REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at
the end of the reporting period, an entity must be
a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability
and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available
for public use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an
adjustment to opening balance of retained profits/
accumulated losses (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of
either all the amendments at the same time or only
the amendments related to the classification of
financial assets is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits/accumulated
losses or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(f)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11 set out amendments
to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7: The amendments have updated
certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and 1G20B of
the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in
the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. TETEER ®
23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 BHEMHGEREKXENZEBHBR
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) HEER @)
(f)  (continued) fn (@&

HKFRS 9: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS
9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and
Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 10: The amendments clarify that the
relationship described in paragraph B74 of
HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de
facto agents of the investor, which removes
the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7: The amendments replace the term
“cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37
of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the
definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(1)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a holding company of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(1)

(ii

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a holding company,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

90 ESEEEEEE

Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company
of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

3% to 10%

10% to 33.3% or over the lease
terms, whichever rate is higher

5% to 10%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BEEBER @

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 BEXREGFBER @
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued) B EE (BERIH) @
Research and development costs (continued) T 5% B B &5 R 2 (48)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any iE JE B9 2% pY A 3% B A SR AR AT SR E
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line EBEYE TEEREAEEEEE
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products BEEUEBEG LZIGHEERABB+5E
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the BTG 2 EEHR IR Y o

products are put into commercial production.

Leases e

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a AEBRSHBEBERIGEYNE
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease BAFOVSTHE - HSYABRERE
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified MEFE—EERARITHE#pEE
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. FEIESR > BZSNAREITHE -
Group as a lessee FEBELAEAFAN

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement NEBEHFEHREE (BiHEE
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of REEEEERERIN RERE—F
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make HEHESE AEERIDEEARE
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to DELHEESIE  MERAEESEISHE
use the underlying assets. AR EENET o
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) 1EHEEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement EREEENRTEEH B EARER
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is (EPtEREEERBHZHER) - FH#EE
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, BRI 2T E A REE
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, et Il EaEmNErER
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are HEELEABRURESESIBIRRE
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial ADBIEE - FRAESENREASIE
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of CHEDNEaESE - OXEBE
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease ERARP BB ETE
payments made at or before the commencement date less any ENH RN RAEEE - E
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated RS EL T ITERRNZESE
on the straight-line basis over the following depreciation periods, ZHHEEGEIEAEHERE 2K
which are the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful MO EIGEASE TR

lives of the assets:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms of FAEL+ WATES04E
47 to 50 years ~ FHHA
Clinics, offices and warehouses ~ Over the lease terms of LR -MAERARE E2ESE
2 to 5 years ~ FHHA
If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group NI ESEZAE#NIE S
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of FHEREAERFRARMTES
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated BRI ITEH AERZBEEZ G
useful life of the asset. A {E A T E o
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office, clinics and staff
quarters (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

2.4

FEHECER (@
KR @

RERHEEMEE
EXEERNE
TREERVTERRSERE
BIREBIERAE RAAEBETA
Hez2EWm kA REES AR °

TREERV T EDRZDESR
FEREEGNRETREZFHKRSE
EREERTEEZEBRN - R
BEAMEMND Z BRI » K&
BT REQAABEM (HILIFER
AEBEFABEZEHMEE) X5 K
FHEZRMEE - M T X WA
FREEER > WEMEBARE N D Z B
IRRRERMBRSENBIGRES
BRI G EEZ X FBEIRETE -

AESTHEERBHERIAIEA
AEESFAEEZEREMS E R
BOREXEASTNEAERKREER
EFE (TSPP)) 2IRERE - I/EN
ENIEASPPINERMBEEUNEANEE
SFABEAERFE > MAREFIE
= o

FEBREETHEEZERE
NERELEREREEEESREEY
AR - EFEAEEREREES?
BUIREHNREERE HESRMEE
FULEME o HBIHRAETDER
STENERMEENEERAZMEER
D EHNRERENEFEAARR
B MEAABESARCZEBA
ETOBAGENTHEERNET
FRFERREGNRERAERHEN
EBRARNFTE - WIFN Lk EFHE
AAFENETREERQAIABETA
BomETORNE -




Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(a)  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(b)  Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(c)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are

carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair

value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had

not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

(a)  General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)
(a)  General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based
on reasonable and supportable information, including the Group’s
credit risk control practices and the historical recovery rate of
financial assets over 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)
(b)  Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially
at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group classifies financial liabilities that arise from a
supplier finance arrangement within trade and bills payables in
the consolidated statement of financial position if they have a
similar nature and function to trade payables. This is the case if
the supplier finance arrangement is part of the working capital
used in the Group’s normal operating cycle, the level of security
provided is similar to trade payables and the terms of the liabilities
that are part of the supply chain finance arrangement are not
substantially different from the terms of trade payables that are
not part of the arrangement. Cash flows related to liabilities
arising from supplier finance arrangements that are classified in
trade and bills payables in the consolidated statement of financial
position are included in operating activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Otherwise, the financial liabilities are
classified in bank borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the related cash flows are included in
financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised
cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

2.4

FEHECER (@
BARETHEK @

THMER @
Higs &2

RO HERDE > HBHEET
BRMNERMaEEHBRUBEN S AKE
HAAETE > [RIFRRBREREERMUARE
i8> BN FRIERATR - ER
AR LU R B BRI REETH
HIZPE > HUim RE R iR m g
o o BN A AT 5T R BB IR A4
SR (B K B B IR A R A B 2R —&f
PHERIMAREE - BRAS#
HEFARTEHRENER

AL IEFESE
ERRZBEERRIBCHEER
o RIEFESREMERE -

HEATHEERRER—ER
ANEERIBRER 2 5 —HE RFTE
> AHRBEHERBZIFRETREBE
5] 0 LI EEEEST R AREAR LEFE
BERERERESMERE > MARK
HEZEZBEREEDAES -

HHERM IR
ERERARITAERREE
EREEAEBLUPEEGEE > HFERF
SHREENRFEERE  EMEENR
TRBESEARRE > LRGEEH
BRARALUBEER -




Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within
three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary difference; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and
Chinese medicine products
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
healthcare and Chinese medicine products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine products.

(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services

Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.

(c)  Provision of contract development and manufacturing
organisation (“CDMQ’) services
Revenue from the provision of CDMO services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

2.4

B (@
BEREHEK @

aafR
ANaERAEREEEREm
AR R A E B AR RREL S wREI A
B (UBRFEESZE) Bl - GHERER
FEBRBETEHN BEREMEMRS
RFIERETER) KD AW o

EEHEF
BlrE 58
KEBRFBREIE AT S BF
PIAGERSA-—RAFEATEER
REFEE (MRREEE)) 2EEE
MsRiR 5t 8 o kIR E S E AR
BOLEEE iR st 8 2R
P& S B TE$R 2 RO H B © SR 5181
ZEER-—HREVEEZESHRAE
BEEDRFTAE - AEBZRBEMHM
REfAFRESFERNEZHERET
’E -

FEBTEKREEERBATZ
EBEASHREMTHRFETZHRE
RE 5T o L F M B QB R H
MAEZETFIEERB D &P RERK
EFFEIMR - ARAMRNIREZFR
BAEHEEZIREREAMR -




Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used
for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
of approximately 8% has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency of Renminbi
(‘RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HKS$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than HK$. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue of the financial
statements, about conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects the
amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group
will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to
reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new
information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period,
the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting
events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, key assumptions concerning the
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2024 was
HK$90,391,000 (2023: HK$95,230,000). Further details are set
out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit using key assumptions such as forecasted growth rates and
budgeted gross margins and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amounts of non-financial assets other than goodwill are set
out in notes 14, 15(a) and 17 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The measurement of expected credit losses under
HKFRS 9 on trade and other receivables requires judgements,
in particular, for the estimations of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining impairment losses, and
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk for other
receivables. These estimates are affected by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different allowance amounts.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The
significant estimates involved in the determination of the inputs
applied in the ECL models include: the Group’s internal credit
grading, which assigns probabilities of default to the individual
grades; the segmentation of trade receivables based on risk
characteristics of the customers; development of ECL models,
including the various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of loss given default of the credit exposures;
determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default; and selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.
It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary. Further details of the ECL provision for trade and
other receivables are set out in notes 21(b) and 22 to the financial
statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less estimated selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in market demand or competitor actions. Management reassesses
these estimates at each reporting date.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance, focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered, being the Chinese medicine business, pharmaceuticals
and medical technologies business and medical and healthcare
services. The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Particulars of the Group’s reportable operating segments
are summarised as follows:

(@) Chinese medicine business segment engages in
the sale of Chinese medicine products in Mainland
China;

(b)  Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business
segment engages in the sale of pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and healthcare products in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Australia and provision of
CDMO services in Mainland China; and

(c)  Medical and healthcare services segment engages
in the sale of healthcare and Chinese medicine
products as well as provision of Chinese medical
services in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Australia.

Segment revenue and results

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit/loss before tax except that the allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are
excluded from such measurement.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

KEDEER &)

Annual Report 2024

Segment revenue and results (continued) DERU R ¥ 4B (@)
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F12831BILLEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hRE BEUNBE BEM
5% B RIEAR# wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T#ERx T#Erx T#Erx T#r
Segment revenue DEWA
Sales to external customers RNBEFIHE 27,084 283,917 18,936 329,937
Intersegment sales DEBEEHE 2,10 1,794 114 4,318
29,494 285,711 19,050 334,255
Reconciliation: #k
Elimination of intersegment sales IR EPREISHE (4,318)
Revenue WA 329,937
Segment results DEEE (12,163) (14,744) (14,395) (41,302)
Reconciliation: ik
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ EEUA ~ I
KREERE 1,241
Corporate and other unallocated tERHEE
expenses APEAX (14,279)
Loss before tax PR AIEE (54,340
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, REFHER @
Segment revenue and results (continued) o ERY i By 4R (@)
Year ended 31 December 2024 (continued) HF2024F1283MBILEE (8)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine  technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
hEE BYNRE BEM
ES BEES bR AR Eoh
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FER TER FER FER

Other segment information: ~ EEAEEH :

Interest income FIEWA 33 264 12 791 1,100
Depreciation and amortisation 37 & K #84 327 31,148 2,767 3,990 38,232
Impairment of goodwill BERE 1,339 - - - 1,339

Reversal of impairment of trade FEUERFIREE
and other receivables, net FEW R

B B (1,525) (61) (10) - (1,59)
Reversal of write-down of BOMAESEE
inventories to net realisable EREE
value - (406) - - (406)
Finance costs REME - 4,507 228 119 4,854
Capital expenditure* BEEY 1,158 62,549 3,961 - 67,668
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * BEAMXBEYE BERRE @
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets. AREEURENEEZRE °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

KEDEER &)
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Segment revenue and results (continued) o EBUR i By #4E (®)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12BMBLLEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hEE  BEYNEER BB
E4d e ES RIERT Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET FET FET
Segment revenue SEBURA
Sales to external customers HINERIHE 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Intersegment sales DEPREHE 3,431 511 - 3,942
51,798 471,196 13,037 536,031
Reconciliation: Bk
Elimination of intersegment sales HHDBEHEE (3,942)
Revenue WA 532,089
Segment results DEREE (11,296) 16,309 (15,310) (10,297)
Reconciliation: Ef 3
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ EEBUKA
Wik K 518 3 58 570
Corporate and other unallocated TtERHEE
expenses b (15,967)
Loss before tax PRI AT 1B (25,694)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. KEFHTEN @)
Segment revenue and results (continued) DEPUREE B E4E (8)
Year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) #HZE2023F 128310 LLFE (48)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
hRE  BEYHNEE BEM
£3% RS ES REEIRT NN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiERT FTHER THERT TR FTER
Other segment information: ~ HE A EFEH :
Interest income FIEBA 59 1,359 17 1,597 3,032
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7 Ry 54 714 28,881 2,811 4,001 36,407
Impairment of trade and BRI REE
other receivables, net FEWRURE
) PR 1,637 31 9 - 1,677
Reversal of write-down of BOMAESEE
inventories to net realisable HERFE
value (741) (810) . . (1,551)
Finance costs RBE A - 4,374 245 327 4,946
Capital expenditure? EENGE 188 64,674 1419 - 66,281
# Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and # BEARALTEENE -BERREUR

equipment and intangible assets.

Segment assets and liabilities

Information about segment assets and liabilities is not
disclosed as it is not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

BREEZRE -

DMEERARE

EARETBEERRECHE
B RO EEREENERERR
FIREE o

RAAREARAE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

KEDEER &)

SRR
() KEIFERZHKA

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Mainland China A B A B 320,992 524,126
Hong Kong 5% 7,743 6,473
Australia B K FI TR 1,202 1,490
329,937 532,089

The revenue information above is based on the locations of

the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

No geographical information of non-current assets is
presented as more than 90% of the non-current assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were located in the

PRC (including Hong Kong).

Information about major customers

During each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no single customer contributed 10% or more of the total

revenue of the Group.

M EWABRIAE R Rt 25
£ o

(b) FHABEE

HRAERER 2024 FH& 2023 F
12 B 31 BEYIEREN B A% LI
hE (BEER) » HIEETIIERE
BEENMESFK -

FREEERZAH

Bl £20244F 20235128318 Lk
FEESF  BERBEMNE—FRH
U A1 2 B B AR U A B910% 3R L L o
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5. REVENUE

Notes:

(a)

5 WA
Revenue of the Group for each of the years ended 31 7 £ [ B 20244 5220235128
December 2024 and 2023 wholly represented revenue from JBLEFERFNNEZIIERER
contracts with customers. BHBUWA
MiEE
Disaggregated revenue information (a) HERHEZWRAEZH
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE20245F 12831 B ILEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
BEYMBE B&M
o hER R B ER A2 IR it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
F#ER F#Ex FER FER
Types of goods or services SmaiRFBER
Sale of pharmaceutical HEBEREMRRESR
and biotechnology products - 267,977 - 267,977
Sale of healthcare products HEREER - 4,766 3,510 8,276
Sale of Chinese medicine products HERREER 27,084 - 8,589 35,673
Chinese medical services e AR - - 6,837 6,837
CDMO services CDMORR - 11,174 - 11,174
Total revenue from contracts with REAHIRA4RLE
customers 27,084 283,917 18,936 329,937
Geographical markets iz i 35
Mainland China F R K B 27,084 283,605 10,303 320,992
Hong Kong 5B - 79 7,664 7,743
Australia AR T - 233 969 1,202
Total revenue from contracts with EEANRALRLE
customers 27,084 283,917 18,936 329,937
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR Z R
Goods transferred at a point in time R EFZER 2 &M 27,084 272,743 12,099 311,926
Services rendered over time N—ER R R it 2 IR S - 1,174 6,837 18,011
Total revenue from contracts with EREHIRALEE
customers 27,084 283,917 18,936 329,937
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5 WA @
Notes: (continued) Mz : (48)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) HEFHEZHAEH (&)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12831HLLEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
EYHBE B
pay: REEER PR ER IR HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Types of goods or services BmakiREERN
Sale of pharmaceutical and HEBEREMREER
biotechnology products - 453,965 - 453,965
Sale of healthcare products HERRER - 11,704 - 11,704
Sale of Chinese medicine products ~ SHEE B EZE T 48,367 - 7,564 55,931
Chinese medical services hERTS - - 5473 5473
CDMO services CDMORR 5 - 5,016 - 5,016
Total revenue from contracts with EREHMALLEE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Geographical markets 3 is v 45
Mainland China H B A BE 48,367 470,009 5,750 524,126
Hong Kong &8 - 53 6,420 6,473
Australia RAF - 623 867 1,490
Total revenue from contracts with ERENRALLE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR Z B R
Goods transferred at a point in time ~ MRERFHER 2 EH 48,367 465,669 7,564 521,600
Services rendered over time R— BB e ft 2 IR %5 - 5,016 5473 10,489
Total revenue from contracts with EREHMALLE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
(b)  The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the (b) T%?&ﬁ%zﬁ%&%ﬁﬂ Lk EAIISEIPN
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at the REMRINZENEEZBAEE !
beginning of the reporting period:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET F#ET
Revenue recognised that was included in contract B 5t AIREHIF Z &4
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting BEZEEIBWA
period:
Sale of products HEE MR 6,559 78,241
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5. REVENUE (continued)

Notes:

()

below:

(WP < AEELERAR

(continued)
Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese
medicine products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine
products. Payment for customers from Chinese medicine business and
pharmaceutical and medical technologies business is generally due
within 60 to 180 days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required, while payment for sales of
products in medical and healthcare services is generally due upon
delivery of products.

Provision of Chinese medical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon customer
acceptance.

Provision of CDMO services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the
date of billing.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15
to its revenue from Chinese medical services and CDMO services
contracts, as the performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue with an original expected duration of one year
or less, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

5.

LN

MizE : (48)

(c)

BHEF
EMTERBRNBEZERBRMT

HEREE LYK RERRIPERE
Eom

BHEERRNHBEE - £YH
RemER P EEEMEIERN - P
BEBRNERARBERMERERDN
ER—MIN Rt BHIREST60E180R A
B MMER —RARMNRIE > M
BERFRRRBHNERBER—MRINE
ma TR EIHA o

IEHRPERE
FRA BRI AR R e R ) i
B RIE—RI T FIRME AT o

FEHCDMOAR 7%

BHEERIRERISERRE
B > FRIE—ARHA R AARE HEARE30E A
Ao

FEBEEREBYBRELENE
15 SEZAITRE A AEANRKE PR
B IR 75 ;M COMORRFS S 4 Z W et » FAR
BHEEHEBREDARAIARS
—EFEUTHNRE > REEFBHHR
HERE5E 0 NEEZFRTHELN
R B ER AT R EIRER
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6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HEWA - KRmkEGEFEHE
An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as ERHEEWA ~ NEREHEFEE
follows: ZomuTE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TET
Other income HEKA
Bank interest income RITF B WA 1,100 3,032
Government subsidies* B AT 4 B 3,157 2,641
Value-added tax refund IBEREBR 935 1,973
Others HEe 419 299
5,611 7,945
Gains and losses, net Wiz B 518 R ER
Fair value gains/(losses), net: AnEEKE (EG8)
VRER
Structured deposits EEMEER 260 711
Other financial asset at fair value through BARBEFAER
profit or loss ZHthWEMEE 377 (1,000)
Impairment of goodwill SR E (1,339) -
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R EREVRRE (112) 478
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BERSEZ
equipment, net Wk, (B518) /$%8 (103) 141
Others HE (31) -
(948) 330
4,663 8,275
* Government subsidies were received on research and development * $$KT7(E§E’\J¥?%E‘,EHH%%
activities and for employment stabilisation in respect of the i@l&%i\f?ft¥?§1§fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ o BRET
Group’s operations in Mainland China. The government grants are ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%;ﬁ}ﬂﬁé\z&’&ﬁﬂﬁ%’&ﬂﬁ’\]%
unconditional, except for certain grants that must be utilised for BERN > BNHEBBERGTEE -

business development of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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7.

1 December 2024 2024£E 12531 H

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7.

PRIS AN 1R

FEBZRRABRENR

(crediting): (BtA) -
2024 2023
2024%F 20235
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FAT FET
Cost of inventories sold BEFEZMA 178,319 278,108
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BEKRREIRE
equipment 14 28,746 27,642
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ??ﬁ% 15(a) 6,599 6,401
Amortisation of other intangible assets CELEE#HE 17 2,887 2,364
Research and development costs: REER A -
Current year expenditure KEEMZ 57,550 30,108
Less: Capitalised during the year A AFEERL (44,267) (17,003)
Net current year expenditure KEEMZFRE 13,283 13,105
Reversal of write-down of inventories ~ BEIMiREFEEE
to net realisable value* AR R B (406) (1,551)
Lease payments not included in the EIEWQEEEEEE%%%
measurement of lease liabilities ZHEMR 15(c) 2,417 1,954
Auditor’s remuneration Z B ET BN = 1,390 1,454
Employee benefit expenses EERFMEX
(including directors’ remuneration (BEES
(note 9)): B (FfzE9)) :
Wages and salaries Ifﬁ&?ﬁﬁm 66,851 75,646
Pension scheme contributions** BIKE 58 R 10,450 10,742
77,301 86,388
Impairment of goodwill 2R E 16 1,339 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of SRYEEZRE
financial assets, net: (RE#EE) > 358 .
Trade and bills receivables FE Wit BR 0 e FE W R 4 21(b) (595) 785
Deposits and other receivables e hETRERKR 22 (1,001) 892
(1,596) 1,677

This item is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

* During each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the retirement benefits
scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels of contributions. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material forfeited
contributions available to reduce the contributions in the future.

*%

EEBsAGEREREC2EKE
KPP THERMA] ©

B E2024F R2023F 12BN B LEEEER
F o AERTERERAKEHEER
WeftRR > MUARERERA HEUKE - it
20244 220235 12831H » ANEH I &
BRI ARINAMRZA -

RAAREARAE



Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. FEMAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAZ SN :
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FET
Interest on bank loans RITEMZHFE 4,507 4,754
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZAER 347 572
Total interest expense M ERZ4EEE 4,854 5,326
Less: Interest capitalised A BERNMEZFE - (380)
4,854 4,946
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEM=E
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIS FhiRE) (T E/
to The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock WA ~ FH A BEF 5383(1)(a) »
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (b) ~ ) RMEURAT KWEESEHE
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BED) A E2NItEAFEEEINS
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) WF
Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Fees wE 420 421
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EEME®W

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named EEMERINBEEZSNN
basis, is as follows: T
Fees
e
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Executive directors: WITES
Mr. Fang Wen Quan AXHEE (BEERFE
(Chairman and Managing Director) ERAKIE) 60 60
Mr. Lui Man Sang aXERE 72 72
132 132
Non-executive directors: JEHITES
Mr. Feng Quanming BERLE - -
Mr. Zhong Tao (appointed on 29 August 2023) fBE SR E (522023F88
29HEZE) 72 25
Mr. Shen Bo (resigned on 29 August 2023) TR e A (522023488
298 ##1E) - 47
72 72
Independent non-executive directors: BIIERITES !
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MHEELE 72 72
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HEREBELE 72 72
Dr. Xian Yanfang (appointed on 27 June 2023) REBELT (5220235
6H2THEZE) 72 37
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa (resigned on 1 July 2023) HEMNZE S A (5220234
7H18 BE) - 36
216 217
Total directors’ remuneration EEMEML%E 420 421
Notes: M 5
(@)  There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief (a) FRUEBBEFHFTETHRAERER
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. FAEREEAMNEZZH -
(b)  There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- (b) FRLEEEMFEILFNTESZH

executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

TS (20234 : &) o
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not
include any director (2023: Nil). Details of the remuneration for
the year of the five (2023: five) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

10. AREEHNES

FRAZRRSHNESFAEEE
RIEE (20235 : ) - FRA S (2023
F I RERB)AFEFRABDEEHEETT

BWABZ&E#HMES 251510

follows: T
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N~ SRR B & 5,645 4,728
Pension scheme contributions BIREETBIMERR 196 90
5,841 4,818
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose BRI T4ANMLEIEESE 2
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: e MEEZ AEUWT :
2024 2023
20244 2023F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %£1,000,00078 75 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,007 75 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 £2,000,0007 7T 1 1
5 5
11.  INCOME TAX 1. PG
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Current — Mainland China BIVHA — AR R K B
Charge for the year AFEXH 222 394
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years BEEERERES
(EBREERHE) 2,171 (738)
Deferred tax (note 28) IEIERR A (F5E28) 4,681 (345)
Total tax expenses/(credit) for the year AEERERE (ER)
ke 7,074 (689)
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11. INCOME TAX (continued) 1. FREH @

Notes: MisE -

(@) No provision for Hong Kong profits tax, Macau complementary tax (a) HRAEEETFRALERESHE @ BFK
and Australia income tax have been made as the Group did not TRAFSE EE A AERREF 0 B
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong, Macau and EHERFER  BPIASHEAERK
Australia during the year (2023: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in TBAR TSI (20235 @ ]) © bR
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable Mainland TEEMBRABTIRAEEE (B8 kX
China corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate of 25% (2023: 25%), except KREEZE (Z/) 9 RPBEARPEEMRESR
for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) and Tianda Pharmaceuticals MiaFBURZRIE > DHERREAFREKX
(Yunnan), subsidiaries of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant laws and FERZEFRTSIR (TSR ME25%
regulations in the PRC, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is qualified (2023%F : 25%) st & © R P E Z18RE
as a new and high technology company and has obtained approvals FERRER  RAEE (KB Jam
from the relevant tax authorities for a preferential tax rate of 15% for MM EEER > EEBEMARBEIEER
a period of 3 years up to December 2025. Tianda Pharmaceuticals HERBEREGSRHR  A=5F
(Yunnan) is established in the Kunming Economic and Technological BE2025F 12841k c RAZZE (Ef)
Development Zone. Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the RIIMNBEHKERMHAZEE - R
PRC, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) is engaged in the Western FERMMEBDEERER 0 RAEE (B
China Development Strategy and is entitled to a preferential tax rate of M) REPEFEE AR - WHE
15% (2023: 15%) during the year. %ﬂ?ﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬁ% (20234 : 15%) 4%

(b) A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the (b) MUTHMRRAEEZRERSE AR
statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the majority of its AERMB AT EBRESEEEZ
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expensel/(credit) at the effective FEEMEHE) BEBRERMEAEZM
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory B (%) 28R URBERR
tax rates) to the effective tax rate, are as follows: K EVEERE) BERRE LR .

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
F#T FExT
Loss before tax PRI RIES1E (54,340) (25,694)
Tax credit at the statutory tax rate ~ 3SEEMBAEHZ R
EiR G (13,585) 25.0 (6,424) 25.0
Higher/(lower) tax rate(s) enacted ARG ZERS
by local authority /(R IR =E 1,123 (2.0) (2,213) 8.6
Income not subject to tax BARMZWA (287) 0.5 (489) 1.9
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIE Ll 528 (1.0) 421 (1.6)
Tax losses utilised from previous BEEEREZRIE
periods K518 (542) 1.0 (72) 0.3
Tax losses not recognised KRV 2RIERE 17,665 (34.8) 8,826 (34.4)
Adjustments in respect of FEHAMIER BN EA(E
current tax of previous period HAE 2,172 (4.0) (738) 2.9
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group’s ~ IRZASE[ 2 BMIRE
effective tax rate STEZRIERY
(15 %) 7,074 (13.0) (689) 2.7

(c)  The Group is not subject to Pillar Two income tax exposure as, in the () HREEZAXEETBRIZIE-HR
opinion of the directors, it does not fall into the scope of Pillar Two RS AR E > RAEE L EEmER
model rules. H AR ERE o

RARBEEBRAT
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12.

13.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024,

On 26 March 2024, the Board proposed a final dividend
of HK0.26 cents per share, totalling HK$5,590,000, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which have been approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 7 June 2024.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the
year of HK$61,371,000 (2023: HK$24,155,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,150,041,884 (2023:
2,150,041,884) outstanding during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for each of the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during these years.

12.

13.

KRE

BEROAEZRIRLEFH E20245F12
BIBAILEEEZRIARE

12024538268 EE €2 &
k3 & F2023F 12831H L FER K
HARG B 8 R20.2678 11l » & 35,590,000
70 BiR20245F6 B7TH R TR RE
FRELERRALE -

FABRRELERER

SREANEESENLIEERNESA
FI A& SR FE {5548 61,371,000 # 7T (2023
£ 124,155,000 #it) RERNBBTE
ERGINFE 198K 2,150,041,884 A% (2023
£ :2,150,041,884 B&) 5t H o

HREAEBREE 2024 XK
2023 F 12 B HIERFEELEAH
HEINERTTER R EMRE
BHZEEESEEVNEREDSE
BEEEHBE -
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14.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y- BEKRKRE

Furniture,
Leasghold ~ Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g fiE
BF WERE BERHSE RERRE RE BRI 4m
HK§'000 HK§000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK§000 HK$000 HK§'000
TiEn TR TiEn TiEn T TiEn TiEn
Net carrying amount REFE.
At 1 January 2023 RABEIR1H 211,89 484 104,107 6,584 99 28980 352,442
Additions HE - " 13,847 1538 354 32,828 49218
Depreciation provided during the year ~~ E T 45 (10501) (273) (14,959) (1,803) (104) - (27,642)
Disposalshurie-off HE /s - - (50) (46) (19) (o) (142)
Transfers & W - 19,000 1,209 - (21,151) -
Exchange realignment EREE (1488) (3) (802) (48) ] (242) (2590)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R0BENBHNARK
WUE1A1H 200,242 o 121,143 7434 1,222 40,388 371,346
Additions hE - 1,092 34 9% 1,051 13,7174 20,605
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERITERHE (11,891) (430) (14012) (2,239) (175) - (28,746)
Disposalshwrie-off HE /M3 - - 1) (89) (83) - (192)
Transfers i 21,862 - 1,055 4381 - (27,298) -
Exchange realignment EREE (7,258) (30) (4,007) (310) (36) (1,523) (13,254)
At 31 December 2024 RNUENANE 202,955 1,549 107,809 10,126 1979 25,341 349,759
At 1 January 2023; RABEIRIA
Cost Ak 940 4,016 147,576 2,921 6,699 28980 441,620
Accumulated depreciation RihE (18,133) (35%2) (43,469) (18,343) (5,701) - (89,178)
Net carrying amount REFE 21,289 484 104,107 6,584 998 28980 352,442
At 31 December 2023: RABENRANE
Cost I 28,114 4113 178,857 26,175 6,826 40,368 486,213
Accumulated depreciation RihE (28472) (3,79%) (57.714) (19.341) (5,604) - (14.927)
Net carying amount REFE 200242 917 121,143 74% 122 03 3136
At 31 December 2024; ROUENRNA
Cost E 242,084 5,715 177,432 30,668 6,835 25,341 487,175
Accumulated depreciation BitiRE (39,129) (4,166) (69,323) (20,542) (4,856) - (138,016)
Net carrying amount RE3E 202,955 1,549 107,809 10,126 1979 25,341 349,759
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14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14.

(@)

(b)

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's buildings
with a total net carrying amount of HK$228,222,000 (2023:
HK$223,195,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial
assets

The Group’s operations have been loss-making
for some time which indicated that the non-current
non-financial assets attributable to the relevant
cash-generating units ("CGUs") (collectively, the
“Non-current Non-financial Assets”), including property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill, and
other intangible assets, may be impaired. Accordingly, the
Group carried out impairment assessments of these assets
as at 31 December 2024 in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets:

The carrying amounts of the Non-current
Non-financial Assets as at 31 December 2024 which were

Y%~ BB R i (@)

(a)

(b)

2024128318 » ZEELER
E R {E4228,222,00058 7T (2023
£ 1 223,195,000/ 7T) METFIZ
FEBFEARTASERN—R
IRITRENER (MsF27) o

JERENIEERLE E R (E TG

TEBHNEFEBIE—RER

BTnHAREELEN ((REELE
i) B2 IEREIEESRMEE W8
DERBIEESMEE)) (BFEWE K
ERZE - FRAREE BEREE
EAEE) AJEELERE - Bt » &
B 2024 F 128 B RIEE B T st

A3 EERENZEEEETH

BT

R 2024F 128318 2 IESR

BFEEMEEZREEETRER

reviewed for impairment during the year are as follows: Y HBWT
Tianda Tianda
Pharmaceuticals TCM Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) (China) (Zhuhai) Total
XREBE XRKHBR XRBZE
(B (&) (¥%38) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTER FET FERT FERT
(note (i) (note (ii)) (note (iii))
(Pt 3E(7)) (P &) (GE)
Property, plant and ER Y
equipment 22,551 986 320,383 343,920
Right-of use assets FREEE 2,365 - 28,976 31,341
Other intangible assets HeRBpEE 1,844 104 39,601 41,549
Goodwill He 4,426 1,339 89,415 95,180
Total Mzt 31,186 2,429 478,375 511,990
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14.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b) Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial
assets (continued)

(i)  Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) CGU

The recoverable amount of the Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) CGU was determined based on its fair value less
costs of disposal (“FV”). In this connection, the Group had
primarily made reference to a valuation report prepared by an
independent professional valuer to derive the FV of the Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) CGU, using the market approach.
The fair value measurement used significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy).

Based on the results of the FV assessment, no
impairment provision was considered necessary for the Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) CGU (2023: Nil).

Below was a summary of the valuation technique used
and the key inputs used in assessing the FV of the Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) CGU during the year ended
31 December 2024:

14.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

ME -~ BB K=t @
(b) FEFRBIEEREERETE @

() XABZ(ZE@)REELEM

RAAEE (Bm) REELEEBEMUN
AREEEDREEAABERLE
A (TAREE) BRE - RIS >
FEBFESEB/IUEXGEMXA
M ERROGEERS > UFHXK
Zx (Em) REELEEUNARE
B AABEAECSHEAERTAH
RPABE (QABERBRE=R) °

RBAAEEIGEER » RAE
¥ (Em BeELEMNBARAE
1% (20234 : 4®) o

UT A E2024F128318 LLF
EifhRAEE (Em) REEL BN
HNARBEMRANGERETAREE
WABIREE

Significant unobservable Weighted
Valuation techniques inputs average
EXFIUTHRE
B R i A BIE niEF3g
Property, plant and equipment Market approach Selling land unit rate HK$1,100
and right-of-use assets (per square meter)
M BERZREUAR %% (8FK) HE LB UER 1,100/ 7T
ERAEEE
Selling building unit rate HK$3,380
(per square meter)
HEBFEMUER 3,380 7T
(8FK)
KAREERRAF]
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14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b) Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial
assets (continued)

(i)  TCM (China) CGU

In the opinion of the directors, the recoverable amount of
the TCM (China) CGU determined based on its value-in-use is
minimal. Therefore, a full impairment of HK$1,339,000 (2023: Nil)
was made against the goodwill attributable to the TCM (China)
CGU during the year ended 31 December 2024. No impairment
loss is considered necessary with respect to the property, plant
and equipment of the TCM (China) CGU as these assets can be
used in the operation of the Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)
CGU.

(iii)  Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) CGU

The recoverable amount of the Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections on a financial budget
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the
five-year period is the same as the long-term average growth rate
of the pharmaceutical industry.

The discount rate and the terminal growth rate applied are
11.36% and 2.3%, respectively.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) CGU as at 31 December
2024. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projection to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rate — The forecasted growth rate is
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is with reference
to the gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

14.

ME s BMERRRZRE @
(b) JERENIEERE ERETFE @

(i) XAHBRE (FE) BEELEMN

EERAE RKFPEZE (FH)
REELENREEGRHEEEEN
AREIEEAMARE - ALt 8#F
2024F12BMBLEEE ) EMRKH
Bo (hE) NIRSELBEUERLHSE
& 2 EE R {E1,339,0005% 7T (20234 :
/) HRRAPELE (hE)REE
SEUNYE  BERREBEUTARK
REX (KB REEEFEMNER
WEBEHZEEEFHRERE -

(i) XABE (HH) HEELEMN

RAEE (BB) REEL BN
AREIEEERNERAEEFEME
o HRASSHREREEMERER
FHRZMBEREBEZHERETRA - #
ELEHHRRERERAZER
KABRETENRATIEREAER -

FRERABITR RGBS RE D
Bl 211.36%5%2.3% ©

RE&T5 AR 5T E2024FE12831H
RAREE (BB e EXBUNER
BE UTHIESEEARESRE
ERETEERENABNZSRER

i -
g .

FRAE RR-BRITERANTE
ABRE-

AHEEMNE-AUEEEEEF
REENEELASTRREEFER
—EFREBIENEK -

RAIR R — P ARG IR R A FRIR RO
i iz Bk 2 AR R BE (i1 A AT BV 4 E FRL B

-

o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

14.

15.

1% EEEEEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b) Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial
assets (continued)

(iii) Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) CGU (continued)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 3 percentage points would cause
the carrying amount of the Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) CGU
to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible
change in other key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

LEASES WHERE THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for various
items of leasehold land, clinics, offices and warehouses for use in
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leasehold land from the owners with lease periods of 47 to 50
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of clinics, offices and warehouses
generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years.

14.

15.

ME -~ BB K=t @
(b) FEFRBIEEREERETE @

(i) XAZEE (&) REELEM

(%

AT EFERDR > BERXT
BEIME R DT ERRKRESE (TB)
REEFBUNRMEESFRETI
EE£58 > MAIWEEEARBENEE
FERINEASEAIEEHAGE
BRKREXE (HB) REEEEMNR
EEBHEJWEEEE -

FEBFAEBAZEE

FEBEREBAREEERA
MG LM 2P WRERBES]
BEREHELH - REZFLMBEE
BT > ERMETERGHE Lt
RAIEH — R > HEAB47TES0
FHBRAGRESZ(IERRIE 2
- MAEREENHEREEA2ES5
o
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15.  LEASES WHERE THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

15. mEBEAERBAZEAE @
(a) EHEEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets rEEFAEEEZRABRE
and the movements during the year are as follows: NEBUWT :

Clinics,
Leasehold offices and

land warehouses Total
I

HELH MAEREE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET FHET

At 1 January 2023 12202318 1H 34,386 13,680 48,066

Depreciation provided FRITELEE

during the year (829) (5,572) (6,401)
Exchange realignment PE R (244) (29) (273)
At 31 December 2023 and H22023F 12831 &

1 January 2024 20241818 33,313 8,079 41,392
Additions wE - 2,796 2,796
Depreciation provided FRITERE

during the year (813) (5,786) (6,599)
Exchange realignment BE R ER 2L (1,160) (101) (1,261)
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318 31,340 4,988 36,328

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land with a total net carrying amount of HK$31,340,000 (2023:
HK$30,770,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 27).

The Group’s operations have been loss-making for some
time which indicated that the non-current non-financial assets
attributable to the relevant cash-generating units, including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
and other intangible assets, may be impaired. Accordingly, the
Group carried out impairment assessments of these assets as at
31 December 2024 in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets, further details of which are set out in note 14(b) to the
financial statements.

20245128318 » N EFE 4
BR [ 7% {8 #31,340,00078 7T (20234 :
30,770,000/ 75) A FHAE T #HBEIK
HEARTARERN—RKIBITHEN
R (MEsE27)

FEBMMNERBEIE—ERER
BTnERAREESEMURGZIERS
FEMEE (BIEVE « BEKEE
FRAREE BERHCEREE) O
BEESERE o AL » 455 B 7220245
12B3BREEF B Gt HI6REF
EREHZEEEETRENG &
— S IBE N B IRERMIEE14(b) ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

15.  LEASES WHERE THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the

15. AEBEARKBAZEE @

() HEERE

FEBREERRZREERERN

movements during the year are as follows: BEIWNT -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
At 1 January »1B18 8,747 14,404
New leases WmEE 2,796 -

Accretion of interest recognised FRFEZH
during the year F23Em 347 572
Payments (NES (6,406) (6,198)
Exchange realignment ER A (113) (31)
At 31 December ®12831H 5,371 8,747
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARBERZIY (2,192) (5,678)
Non-current portion JETRENER 3,179 3,069

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36

to the financial statements.

(¢c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

HEREZEMHITRMBRRE

M ZE36 1K 5R ©

(c) EmPHERIEEMRRBRIENT

2024 2023

20245 20235

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 347 572
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESERE 6,599 6,401
Expenses relating to short-term leases BGHATE BRI 2,417 1,954
Total amount recognised in profit or loss e P HE SR R IEAREE 9,363 8,927

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c)

to the financial statements.

(a) HEMNREREBEANFTRE

MiEE31(c) IR 2 o
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16.  GOODWILL 16. HE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
At 1 January: ®1B18 :
Cost BN 99,594 100,344
Accumulated impairment REtRE (4,364) (4,396)
Net carrying amount IRERE 95,230 95,948
Net carrying amount: BREFE
At 1 January B1B1H 95,230 95,948
Impairment loss recognised ERRHERE (1,339) -
Exchange realignment FE AR (3,500) (718)
At 31 December 128318 90,391 95,230
At 31 December: M®128318 :
Cost D% 95,940 99,594
Accumulated impairment FtiRE (5,549) (4,364)
Net carrying amount IRERE 90,391 95,230
(a) Goodwill allocation (a) BWESE

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment

BREBEHWBZEEDE
ETVREELEEMFERENR

testing:

+  Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda « RKREE (BER) 2BEERRS
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) E4E

+  Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for TCM « RAPEBE (PE) 2HBEEESR
(China) HEEEEN

+  Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Zhuhai « KKBRKPERRZPBEER
TPCHM REEFEM

+  Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda « RREE (KB Z2BEERRSE
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) E4 B
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

16.

138 B

GOODWILL (continued)

(a) Goodwill allocation (continued)
The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

16.

2 ()

BB @
PEESREELEMUZHELZ
REFEWT :

(@)

Tianda Tianda
Pharmaceuticals TCM  Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) (China) (Zhuhai) Total
XAEE RXAPRE XREXR
(B (FE) (¥%38) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FET FET
Carrying amount of goodwill as at 1420245128318
31 December 2024 ZBHEREE 4,210 - 86,121 90,391
Carrying amount of goodwill as at ~ $32023512831H
31 December 2023 ZBERAE 4,426 1,388 89,416 95,230

Full impairment of HK$1,231,000 and impairment of
HK$1,596,000 and HK$1,384,000 were made for the goodwill
attributable to the CGUs for Zhuhai TPCHM, TCM (China) and
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) in prior years, respectively.

(b)

Details of annual impairment assessment of goodwill are
set out in note 14(b) to the financial statements.

BRBRARERA ~ RATEEE
(PE]) RRAZEX (BEf) WREEE
B EHENBEFED NS
iR {E1,231,00078 7T K i (B 11,596,000 7T
21,384,000 7T ©

AEFERET G ZF BN
TRERRMIFE14(b) ©

(b)
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17.

Annual Report 2024

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HEEBFEE
Technical Licences  Development
knowhow and permits costs Total
Ffifn #ShEReFaE R 4agE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
TF#ET TF#E F#ET F#Ew
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 January 2023 120231818 - 1,753 4,373 6,126
Additions #=m - - 17,003 17,003
Amortisation provided FERESHRE
during the year - (428) (1,936) (2,364)
Exchange realignment ERAE - (1) (77) (88)
At 31 December 2023 and 12023F12831H
1 January 2024 220241818 - 1,314 19,363 20,677
Additions 10 27,386 - 16,881 44,267
Amortisation provided FERBHERE
during the year (517) (419) (1,951) (2,887)
Exchange realignment ERAE (518) (39) (970) (1,527)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 26,351 856 33,323 60,530
At 1 January 2023: 1202351818 -
Cost (BN - 90,567 9,071 99,638
Accumulated amortisation Rt E R E
and impairment - (88,814) (4,698) (93,512)
Net carrying amount REFE - 1,753 4,373 6,126
At 31 December 2023: 202351283108 -
Cost %N - 90,327 25,957 116,284
Accumulated amortisation Rt E R E
and impairment - (89,013) (6,594) (95,607)
Net carrying amount IREEE - 1,314 19,363 20,677
At 31 December 2024: 2024 12A18 .
Cost 5% 26,858 87,225 41,597 155,680
Accumulated amortisation BB RGRE
and impairment (507) (86,369) (8,274) (95,150)
Net carrying amount IREFE 26,351 856 33,323 60,530
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17.

18.

140 ESEEEEERE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The Group’s operations have been loss-making for some
time which indicated that the non-current non-financial assets
attributable to the relevant cash-generating units, including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
and other intangible assets, may be impaired. Accordingly, the
Group carried out impairment assessments of these assets as at
31 December 2024 in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets, further details of which are set out in note 14(b) to the
financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

17.

18.

HeBHEEE @

SEBMMNERBEEE—RIER
BT AMREELEEUEGZIERE
FERMEE (BIFEVE « BEKERE
FRAREE BERECEFEE) O
BEES RME o AL » 455 B 1220245
12B31ERIEE A TR F365HEF
EREHZEEEETREN G &
— S BEHN M IRERMIFE14() ©

BRAABEFABZZEMEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Unlisted fund investment, at fair value ELEHEERE
BAREESZ = 9,000

The above unlisted fund investment was mandatorily
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as
its contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

On 19 April 2023, the Group entered into an agreement
to subscribe for an investment fund in a principal amount of
HK$10,000,000. The principal objective of the fund is to maximise
capital appreciation and achieve returns to investors. The fund is
managed by Tianda Asset Management Limited, which is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company.

On 2 December 2024, the fund investment was fully
redeemed.

MR EHIF EHESRENGH
REREVFERAZNEETRAE
FI Rt REARAAEEF AR
ZEMEE-

122023548198 » AEBETI 1%
N AN E %10,000,0008 TR EE
o ZETNTIEBREAREER
REANWERIZEMER -ZEEH
TABTHNRRMBLARNRAKEEERE
BERATER -

11202412828 » ZEERED
EEEE o
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19. EQUITY INVESTMENT DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 19. IEE AR AAEBESIAEERM@E

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME WmzRARSE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Listed equity investment, at fair value: FHREKE
ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited American RAREE:
Depositary Shares ("ASLAN") SHERMBRAR
(Tez¥ikR)) =EITRER M - 216
The above equity investment was irrevocably designated MU ERAIGE T Aol i s E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group ARAMBEFAEEZEAN >
considers the investment to be strategic in nature. ARERFRAZREBRKEME -
ASLAN has filed voluntary liquidation and was delisted DHREEREBEER LR
from National Association of Securities Dealers Automated 4FTARZ2ERSRZEHE E
Quotations ("NASDAQ") stock market in July 2024. In the opinion BRERA (TMHTER)) RETHIR
of the directors, the fair value of the investment in ASLAN as at HmeBERA > 1R2024F12831H »
31 December 2024 was close to zero. REMEBEZREZAREBEEZBLES -
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20.

21.

INVENTORIES 2. 78
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Raw materials R A4k 19,742 25,465
Work in progress TR 5,686 17,126
Finished goods Oyt 14,781 22,557
40,209 65,148

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21, BRI B R &

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#Ex TFAET
Trade receivables FE WL BR FR 59,743 72,586
Impairment (note (b)) A (FizE(b)) (1,153) (1,748)
58,590 70,838
Bills receivable FEU R 15 18,833 33,963
77,423 104,801

Notes: MIsE -
(@)  The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, (a) HEEBHREFERZEBSAXTELURR

except for new customers where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit periods range from 30 to 180 days. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are non-

interest-bearing.

A/EEMER—RBERLMM -
EEBBEANEBORTE - AEH
HARESBERBEERS BRISEE R
FEREBRERKE SREEREEH
BERBEER o \H XA IER K
FEEZ BRI BRI kR
ZER BUBEREPEERAR-
7 55 [ 3 S K5 A RIS FE U R RRAB BR Y
ERRIECMRETEZH - BUER
RKREERBERTEE -

RAAREARAE
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21.  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. FBEUWERAR KR EWER @
Notes: (continued) MisE : (48)
(@)  (continued) (@) (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end RERERAR > UBRZEHBHAEENR
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss EEEENREBIRR RERERZR
allowance, is as follows: BaMMT
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$°000 HK$000
F#&T FET
Within 2 months PAEDENA 52,849 77,582
2 to 3 months 2E3E A 10,609 6,071
Over 3 months MEEU L 13,965 21,148
77,423 104,801
(b)  The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade (b) EFEAEWERRZEEREREZES
receivables during the year are as follows: mr
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FHET
At 1 January WA1R 1,748 963
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) FRBANRESE/
recognised during the year, net (REBERE) FE (595) 785
At 31 December »128318 1,153 1,748

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
assigning an internal credit rating with reference to the historical
records of the Group to determine the probability of default. Loss given
default is estimated based on market information. The loss rate is
then adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

HEDMNEREBRET AXA
SERAEMNBELBRBTARER
PR U EENN AN - B
KRB HISER MG - BIEXHER
EEHBAE > URMREBERLRER
FATEA R TRR GNERA) - — AR
= RWERRMaREE—FAFRR
BREIMITEBIRE RIS R -
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the

21.

FE W BR =R R FE R ZE 4% (48)

MizE : (48)

(b)  (#&)

TXEHIAEBBURIRRZEERR

Group’s trade receivables: B
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating SEFRER loss rate amount losses
JEHAEE FEHAEE
[ 3iES HREREE K518
% HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET F#T
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318
Class 1* H14E - 42,442 =
Class 2** 2™ 0.01 2,633 1
Class 3*** R 0.92 895 8
Class 4**** SEAFE 1.85 12,866 237
Credit impaired receivables B B R EREUWERR 100.00 907 907
Total st 59,743 1,153
At 31 December 2023 20235128310
Class 1* 148" - 45,577 -
Class 2** 2% 0.02 11,152 2
Class 3*** E-RE b 1.71 9,891 169
Class 4**** SEAFE 3.33 4,540 151
Credit impaired receivables BEERERIEER 100.00 1,426 1,426
Total st 72,586 1,748

%

Hkkk

The b

Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and
have a good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past
due.

Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and
have a good repayment history. Certain portion of receivables
from these customers were past due but the Group expects that
the receivables can be recovered.

Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group

but have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due
but the Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group
expects high risk of irrecoverability for the receivables.

ills receivable are due within 90 days. In respect of

bills receivable, they are mostly banker's acceptance bills and

there were

no recent history of default for bills receivable. As

at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance on these
receivables was assessed to be minimal.

*k

FhEE

BRTREREEREERE
BERRERDHR R o BUIR
TR KRB o

FHER P AAEEFREIRRE
BRERMREMGCHERET - LER
FHETRIEIRMERBE » B4
M A S AT U ] FE UK AR R

BMER P mAKERE
113X 5 > BIERLERRYETF - B
IRREEM - BAREEBAS AT
[E] FE L BR R ©

BHEEPHIEWIRRERH > B
AEBB EBIRRFERZER
B &

ZERWEEROBR AN EHE - 57t
EWRZEEMS » KD BIRITHRRE
Z, HEWERREEELNRLHE - ©®
20245 22023128310 » 525 FEURER
M2 EEREETLAMAIRE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. FANRIAE - RERHEEBRWR
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Non-current JERE
Deposits for acquisition of items of: WENTEEZEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKR&E 755 572
Other intangible assets HemTEE 11,383 34,650
12,138 35,222
Current e
Prepayments TR RIE 2,447 1,811
Deposits B& 6,144 8,432
Other receivables HEEW 3,352 2,312
11,943 12,555
Impairment allowance (note) AEEE () (49) (1,050)
11,894 11,505
Total 4EEt 24,032 46,727
Note: The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of deposits and izt : ERAKESRECEKRZHEBRER
other receivables during the year are as follows: HZEEWMT :
2024 2023
2024% 2023F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex FET
At 1 January WBA1H 1,050 158
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) FRRRHRESE
recognised during the year, net (R ERERE) $58 (1,001) 892
At 31 December 128318 49 1,050
The provision rates are based on an internal credit rating with BEXELENSEAEEBERRZ
reference to the historical records of the Group to determine the P ERE TR B A B < 1219
probability of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market ?E?Em%ﬁii%ﬁ %‘E il ?E%I%ﬂﬁ
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current 1T &8 B LA S BR B AT A 5 e AR R AE AR
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. MER (EE)

004 JRES



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES — 22. FE(IRRIE ~ HEREERUR @)
(continued)
Note: (continued) MisE @ (48)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXHIAERMBZEEREERKTRZ
Group’s deposits and other receivables: EEERER :
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318
Expected credit loss rate TRHAEERIEE 0.23%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HEREE (FHBT) 21,634
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHREER518 (F8m) 49
At 31 December 2023 7220235128318
Expected credit loss rate TRHREERIEE 2.28%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HEREE (F#8T) 45,966
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TERRfE ER51E (F#E ) 1,050
23. BALANCES WITH FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES 23. HRERMBABE 2R
(a) Due from a fellow subsidiary (a) FEW—MRZRHEBARRIE
At 31 December 2024, the Group had an outstanding trade 7220245128318 » A& B FE X
balance due from a fellow subsidiary, Tianda Group (Australia) FRMBATIRAKER CRAFEE) B
Pty. Ltd. of HK$87,000 (2023: HK$312,000), which was payable RATZKREEE 7485 487,0008 7T
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of (2023%F : 312,000 7T) » R IEZEE
the Group. L ERFERFRENEER
M AT o
The balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and with a G ARIEE R EREEH
credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the 20K o MIREHIR > &G R ZIRES
balance was aged within 2 months based on the invoice date. ARBEZHHZMEAA
(b) Due to fellow subsidiaries (b) EFRRMBARRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B = FAT FET
Trade and bills payables P& 1 BR R Bz FE A T 4% (i) 10,385 11,975
Short-term lease payable EHEMEE (ii) 1,274 483
11,659 12,458
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 20244 12531 H
23.  BALANCES WITH FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 23. HERMEBAE 246k @)

(b)  Due to fellow subsidiaries (continued) (b) EFRERMMEBARDMRE (@
Notes: sk

(i)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had trade balances due
to two fellow subsidiaries of the Company, namely Zhuhai
S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. and Tianda (China)
Ltd., of HK$10,385,000 (2023: HK$11,810,000) and Nil (2023:
HK$165,000), respectively.

The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with a
credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the
balances were aged within 2 months based on the invoice date.

The Group had lease payables to two fellow subsidiaries of the
Company, namely Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited and Shenzhen
Tianda Creative Ltd., of HK$800,000 (2023: HK$483,000)
and HK$474,000 (2023: Nil), respectively. The balances are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(i)

(ii)

#2024E 128318 > 7~ & F FE (¢
EATMERRK B AR KSR
EHEHREBERARRX
AEE (FE) BERATZRE
BB 54550 57210,385,0008 7T
(20234F : 11,810,000 7T) R Z#
7 (20234 : 165,000 7T) ©

ZAERAERIER « REREEH
#OK o MIMEHAR » ZHEHZ
R AREZEZEHZMER
W o

EEBENLEAAEMERER R
BABEIKBRARKEXERAT
BFINKKREIZEERATNME
£ 9 B! 43800,00058 7T (20234F :
483,000587T) B2474,0007 7T (2023
FE) ZEHRAEERR R
BEREBEREIE -
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31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

24.  CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank
balances denominated in RMB amounted to HK$71,352,000
(2023: HK$136,393,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on

daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

25. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

24.

25.

R KIVITHEER

2024128318 » ZEE UL
AREBABEZRERIBTEGRS
71,352,000 7T (20234F : 136,393,0003%
7T) c NREARATEHRMRAERES
e SR AR 38 o Bl A Bk S BE B 1 AR 1
REEE - EERNEEERTE » K&
BErEREAEETINEER ZIRITHE
ARERBAHEEE

EFRIRTZHEEBENESAIRTE
A REF EF REEF S o RITAE
BERNRETEERCHZEER
YFRIERTT ©

FE AT BR TR

RE|EHR > UERAPAEE
B BRARZ IREC DAY T ¢

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FBT

Within 2 months 2B B ™M 36,783 80,762
2 to 3 months 2E3E A 3,738 1,368
Over 3 months MEA UL 26,917 23,888
67,438 106,018

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days.

IR A RS » —RI0E
BORABE ©
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Annual Report 2024

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26, HERMNRKEAER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M 5 FET FET
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 8,429 13,714
Other payables HEREHOm® (b) 10,319 11,342
Accruals FEstE R 28,094 63,826
Dividend payables FETRZ 8 43 41
46,885 88,923
Notes: M=

(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) ABHEBEHBOT:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 20234 2023€F
12831 12831 1818
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FEx FET

Short-term advances received from customers BULE F5EHEAR R

Sale of pharmaceutical and Chinese medicine THE B R hEg gk 8,429 13,714 111,733

products Em

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from
customers for the sale of pharmaceutical and Chinese medicine
products. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was
mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from

customers in relation to the sale of pharmaceutical and Chinese R FRES o

medical products at the end of the year.

AHNEREEHERERTEEER
HWE R FZHIERM o 20245 20236
BHNERERVEIERHNERNEE
RABERBEZERTREHER

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average credit (b) HEBMRASME  FHEERH

term of three months. =@A -
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31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. IRITEM
2024 2023
WUE 0235
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 ate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BIRHIE %) SIHRSE FER a[‘ﬂﬂ (%) Bl TR
Current;
Bank loans - secured Eﬁ PRC Loan 2025 54,741 LPR +1% 2024 53,170
(note (a)) (I}ﬁﬁ( )) Prime Rate
(“LPR") +1%
REERHE N HEERTE NUE
ST SEAENM
Bank loans - unsecured RrEn- LPR +0.45% 2025 67,333 LPR +0.45% 2024 43302
REERHSE N5 HEERTSE NUE
ROEFIM045% BEFZM0S5%
122,074 96,492
Non-current: FRE.
Bank loan - secured Ban-A48 = LPR+% 2025 8358
(note (a)) (W&
HEETTE NBE
HEHZm
122,074 104,850
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31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

27.

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The secured bank loans as at 31 December 2024 were secured by
the pledge of certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$259,562,000 (2023:
HK$253,965,000) (notes 14(a) and 15(a)).

The financial liabilities that are part of the Group’s supplier finance
arrangements are included in bank borrowings and are normally settled
on 360-day term.

The Group has established supplier finance arrangements that are
offered to some of the Group’s key suppliers in Mainland China.
Participation in the arrangements is at the suppliers’ own discretion.
Suppliers that participate in the supplier finance arrangements will
receive early payments or payments at the original due dates on
invoices sent to the Group from the Group’s external finance provider.
If suppliers choose to receive early payments, they bear the related
expenses. In order for the finance provider to pay the invoices, the
goods must have been received or supplied and the invoices must
have been approved by the Group. Payments to suppliers ahead
of or at the invoice due date are processed by the finance provider
and, in all cases, the Group settles the original invoice by paying the
finance provider in line with the original invoice maturity date or at
a later date as agreed with the finance provider. Interest expenses
on the bank borrowings begin to accrue when those suppliers have
received the payments from the external finance provider. Payment
terms with suppliers have not been renegotiated in conjunction with the
arrangements. The Group provides no security to the finance provider.

All financial liabilities that are part of the supplier financial
arrangements are included in the current portion of the Group’s
secured bank loans within bank borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

27.

R17
MisE -
(@)

(R0

7220245128318 » BIEHRITERU
48 B8R T £ %8 49 %3259,562,0005% 7T (2023
£ 1 253,965,000 7T) WAEBETHE
T BAEFIEIRIR (FdsE14(a) B2 15(a)) ©

SPASRITERIEALERHEEERE
ZH—BON TR EE AR08
MRS ©

FEBERIEHBEHMERH  RHE
FRERETPERENI D T ZMHE
B HEBTRITRERS2HEAM
ZH - 2HEMEHRELRHNHEES
MALEEZEHERR  TEAEEN
S BB ER 1 FE R R AT TR A IR E 2
HABR R - AEEmEERATGR - A
AREARAX  MATEWIESRE
HmEY) BRZCERERMER
MERERSEINER ERRE
A B Z A B 2 B [a) 4t B 7 S {9 RO RRIE
HREHEERE  EREBERT
FEFRBRAERIPANEME
MEFABENREZBHRAMEHER
IR BUEEBRIGER o IRITERBF
EHXBHEEWRESNBREEES
N REMBRE - BEEEETILN
T RIERR A R A B R BFE A5 o
AEE M SR P R S P R PR R AR o

FMBEEAEEERERE—BINE
BB AT AREM BRI RIERT
ERP A EBARIFRTERZRD
=il

31 December 31 December 1 January

2024 2023 2023

20244 2023%F 20235

12A31H 12831 1818

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TF#ET FHET TET
Carrying amount of financial liabilites 2 {EfEERE 25k
that are part of the supplier finance —BANEREE

arrangements included in: BREME > 5TA

Bank borrowings of which suppliers HEESWEIDRR

have received payments BIERITIE R 39,559 - -

For financial liabilities that are part of the supplier finance
arrangements included in bank borrowings, the related non-cash
transaction is disclosed in note 31(a) to the financial statements.

Pt ARITERER MR E 25
—BoNEREEMNS > HEAERSE
RN BRRMI EEI (IR EE ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

28. IRIEMIBER

The components of the deferred tax liabilities and their RAFE  RIEREBEENARE S
movements during the year are as follows: RESEHUWT :
Attributable to
i3
Fair value
adjustment
arising from
acquisition of Development
a subsidiary costs Total
ks —
HEAR
EE2
ARBEERE HERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR % Tiw
At 1 January 2023 1202351 B 1H 306 656 962
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FREETFAZ
during the year (note 11) ERERRIE (M5E11) (55) (290) (345)

Exchange realignment BRI 2) (4) (6)

At 31 December 2023 and 20238128318 &

1 January 2024 202451818 249 362 611

Deferred tax chargedi(credited) to profit or ENERRENE /GIA) Z

loss during the year (note 11) EERIE (MEE11) (53) 4,734 4,681

Exchange realignment ERAE (8) (104) (112)

At 31 December 2024 120245128310 188 4,992 5,180

Notes: MIsE :

(@)  The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and Australia (@) AEBFREBEBRRANEMAE
of HK$211,034,000 (2023: HK$191,870,000) that are available FREFAMRIEHELE BB Z ATHEREK
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies F& 2R 77 i # 2 78 T8 &5 48211,034,00078
in which the losses arose. The Group has tax losses arising in Macau 7t (20234 : 191,870,000 7T) o ANEH
of HK$1,576,000 (2023: HK$1,397,000) that will expire in one to three BIRBRPIM A AR IR R R ERR
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. The Group also BAIEBR—E=FNERZREES
has tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$123,743,000 (2023: 181,576,000 7T (20234 : 1,397,00078
HK$97,853,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting 7o) cAEENBEREREKREMA
against future taxable profits. ARIKERRERMN AT RER—F

HENERZHRIER518123,743,0008 7T
(20234 : 97,853,000 7T) ©
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these HRZERBEREEHFIE—BRREN
losses as they have arisen from subsidiaries that have been loss- WEAT > BEXAREERERRERE
making for some time and it is uncertain that taxable profits will be FLURSHIR R 1E > MU B ZERS
available against which the tax losses can be utilised. BREDIELEREBEE o
RARBEEBRAT
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

28.

29.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 28. ELERBEEEGE @

Notes: (continued) MisE : (48)

(b)  Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding (b) IREFEFPECEFRERE AREMRA
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the [ A B BY 3L B9 P B 3% B R E MY S E 3%
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower BEMEIRREBBM0%MTENGR o
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between P ERBEEINE R E BRI A
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the EBETIUMBIRA > BRANTFEINRELY
Group, the applicable rate is 5% (31 December 2023: 5%). The Group BE -MAEEMS > BAMEXA%
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by (20235E12H31H : 5%) o FItbAE®A
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China. MPEARERINZEWBATFRD

TRAYRR BB TEINR ©
At 31 December 2024, there was no significant unrecognised deferred 720245128318 » ANEBE PRI
tax liability for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings T BBMTEINRNME AT RELR
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC that are subject to MBI FEMRIBI B RKRERIRIER
withholding taxes as it is the intention of the management to retain the HEf REAEEEBERRZER
earnings within these subsidiaries. (2023: Nil). MRENZEM B AT (2023%F © ) ©

(c)  There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of (c) AERTEERRIKM ST &M
dividend by the Company to its shareholders. EMER-

SHARE CAPITAL 29. K&

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Authorised: EE -
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 4,000,000,0008% = &
EEIE T EER 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHRE :
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 2,150,041,884 0% = R&
HEABITZEBER 215,004 215,004
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

30. RESERVES

(a)

IV xAzEEREAR

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Under the Companies Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the
excess of the disposal consideration over the fair
value of the disposal of Tinwise Investment Limited, a
then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its
subsidiaries in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a
shareholder; (2) the excess of the disposal consideration
over the fair value of the disposal of the packaging and
printing business in 2012 as a deemed capital contribution
from the ultimate holding company; and (3) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the
disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding
company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the
Company and the nominal amount of the share capital
of a subsidiary acquired by the Company pursuant to a
corporate reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 1992.

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after tax of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors
of those subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial
statements and (2) the provision for production safety fund
by a subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2%
to 4% based on operating revenue (the maintenance and
production safety funds), which is transferred from retained
profits to the statutory reserves and could be utilised
when expenses and capital expenditures in production
maintenance and safety measures are incurred.

30.

#f
(a)

A B A R BB 2 1
BRBERARMRB WA &
BEE -

RSB BEARE (BEET) »
TABRMEERANEEZT D
IRFTAERERR » ERBEREZ
KRS BEIR > AARREES
EEERAEXEHBREREHN
&5 -

HEFBRRT 2010EHE XL
REERFNZE M E 2 B Tinwise
Investment Limited sz EMff B AT Z
RESRAEEZAAEE 1F
A—RRBRZRIEHE ; (2) 2012
FHEGRKEREF ZRES
RETHEZ AREE » FARLE
ERATZIREHRE ; K(3) 2012
FHEBEBREE ZAESN
FIHEZ ARER  (FARKE
RABZREHE -

BHREDARBRE-BERASE
1 AR B IR A 10 19924 TE B 3T Pl
EHMETZATEMBIETZ
RAEEELFREE—EHEAT
ZRAEEMEBMZELR -

AEfEFETHE(1)F T B R AL 2
BRABZESZRBEPEEZEMT
BRMEBZMZZH BB ZER
mEEMNEHETESLEZ D
Rz (2)— Fil o I Ff B 2 B LA RS LR
ABBERN F2EANZ EIE
MEBRERZEEZZES (BE
REEZZESE) > HREBEF
BEBERERME > BENEEEE
ReZeEEESXHRERFHS
RrENA o
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31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

30. RESERVES (continued) 30. f#fE @

(f)  The capital reserve represents the difference between the () BEXREEEREER2023F9H30
consideration paid and the carrying amount of the additional BRI R K (Zr) §85ME
interests of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) acquired by mEMAEEREE ZENE
the Group on 30 September 2023. Details of the transaction A o 32 5 5 1B HL I EE33(b) (if) P 42
are disclosed in note 33(b)(ii). o

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31. #Z&IR&mMEXRME
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EFEBIIEREXRS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to the MAEAFEE > XEBERZFR
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$2,796,000 (2023: MAERBEENHEZH A
Nil) and HK$2,796,000 (2023: Nil), respectively, in respect of 2,796,00078 75 (20234 : #) 522,796,000
lease arrangements for clinics, offices and warehouses. BT (2023%F - \E) WIERESEREE

ERBEEAEREM -

During the year, the Group reclassified trade payables of FR o AEBERBEEERMELH
HK$40,337,000 (2023: Nil) to bank borrowings in respect of the 1 B 5 FE {3 X 1840,337,0007% 7T (2023
supplier finance arrangements. F.®|ENSBEEFRIRITEMR
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31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 3. RS

FLOWS (continued)

RE&ERERMEE @

(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: (b) MEIFBEENERES:

Lease Bank Dividend

liabilities ~ borrowings payables

HEaE HFITER BOERS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET FHET FET

At 1 January 2023 H22023FE1H81H 14,404 126,646 39

Changes from financing cash flows REMEBERESRENEE) (5,626) (20,952) -

Interest expense FEMZ (572) (4,374) -
Interest paid classified as DEAREREREZ

operating cash flows BFE 572 4,374 -
Dividend declared EEIRKKRE - - 5,590
Dividends paid [S30);ES - - (5,588)
Exchange realignment FERAE (31) (844) -
At 31 December 2023 and 2023F 12831 K&

1 January 2024 2024E1H1H 8,747 104,850 41
Changes from financing cash flows BRI ERERENEE) (6,060) (19,001) -
Increase arising from supplier HEEMEZHFREEN

finance arrangements i 1] - 40,337 -
New leases WEE 2,796 - -
Interest expense MEMXZ (347) (4,507) -
Interest paid classified as DEAREREREZ

operating cash flows BAFE 347 4,507 =
Dividend declared BEEIKEE - - 5,590
Dividends paid BIKRE - - (5,588)
Exchange realignment BE R aR 2L (112) (4,112) -
At 31 December 2024 1220245128318 5,371 122,074 43
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

EEREMERME @)

(c) HEMREHRHLBEE
FAGEHRERERNRESRH
AR

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Within operating activities RS EER (2,764) (2,526)
Within financing activities RREEER (6,060) (5,626)
(8,824) (8,152)
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. BARKIE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the FEBNKREHRBUTERK
end of the reporting period: 1.
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAEREME
Property, plant and equipment M BE KRR 23,698 49,800
Other intangible assets HegETLEE 19,021 14,950
42,719 64,750
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. BAEALHEKE
(a) The Group had the following transactions with related (a) AEBRFEREFEALEITIU
parties during the year: TR
2024 2023
20245 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
[ F#Ex FHET
(Restated)
(&)
Ultimate holding company: REERAT
Purchases of consumer goods BEHER (ii) 11 -
Fellow subsidiaries: BRMEAR :
Sales of healthcare products HEFREER (i) 66 437
Sales of pharmaceuticals and 4 5 B 5 e B SR A Al (i)
medical technologies products Em - 16
Purchases of packaging materials B8 B S8 ikl KR 58 & (il
and designing services* BR#5* 7,214 14,892
Purchases of consumer goods BEHER (ii) 93 140
Short-term lease payments for WAZE ~ BERZHN (iii)
office, warehouse and clinics SEEE N NEN 1,515 1,624
* These related party transactions also constitute continuing * ZEMEALRZTER TR
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing BIBUAEFMAE ZHFERER
Rules. 2 e
Notes: Bk -

(il

(i)

The sales to fellow subsidiaries were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered to major customers of
the Group.

The purchases from the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered by the fellow subsidiaries to their major
customers.

The transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(ii)

(i)

m[E # S A B RS E TR AR
BRkOFERTERRREMHD
R ETT -

BRIERABRERIE AR
RBLEARERRERKE
ARAETERFRERFRGE
& o

ZERBEEHEEREZK
TR AR HETT o
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)  Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

On 19 April 2023, the Group entered into an
agreement to subscribe for an investment fund
in a principal amount of HK$10,000,000. The
principal objective of the fund is to maximise capital
appreciation and achieve returns to investors. The
fund is managed by Tianda Asset Management
Limited, which is a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

This related party transaction also constituted a
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

On 1 August 2023, Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical
Co., Limited (“Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical’), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an equity transfer agreement (the “Agreement”)
with Yunnan Li Nuo Biotechnology Co., Limited
(“Li Nuo”), the 45% minority shareholder of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan), which was then 55%
owned by the Group. Pursuant to the Agreement,
Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical acquired this remaining
45% interest in Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan)
held by Li Nuo at a consideration of RMB23,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$25,228,000) on
30 September 2023, and Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) has become an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since then. The excess
of the consideration paid over the carrying amount
of the additional interest of Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) acquired, amounting to HK$336,000, was
recognised as a reduction in the Group’s capital
reserve during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Further details of this transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 August 2023.

REBEALRS @

N

HEALHNHERS

—_
=

7 £ @ 70 2023F 48198
SAHE SRR EEA
10,000,000 TR E &
To-ZEENETEBRE
AREEBHERANES
IBEMOK - ZETHE
AFNERMBATDRK
EEEEARAGEE -

ZHRBEANETXBTFEN L
TR B SB14AEFR 5 E Z
ER5 o

2023FE8818 » A AT
TEMBRAREREYR
BZHERRE (EXEYH
B)BEBFERREE (B
/) (BAEEERFE5%
A% HE) 45%R% #E B9 /D AR
REFMNEEYEMAER
NE (TR sTIa REE
EiE (MHEL) - RIEWH
% EERAYBEEF2023F
9H30H UL A E #£23,500,000
7t (F8 & 1% 925,228,000
7o) MR BB EEEN
RREE (E/) FIERIS%
HIRRHE > RAKEEZE (Em)
BItRAEAATHMES
BEMfBAR - FrBEX K
EX (B BEMEZNE
TRESNERENEZLE
336,000/ 7T » EREIE2023
F1NAMBILEERIRAZ
EEERFERLD o

ERZXZHNE— P
B BF2EAATIHEA
2023 FE8H1HMAL °
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33. BAEANTIRZ @)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: ) HAEEFEBEAEBME:

2024 2023

20245 20235

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FAET

(Restated)

(&=75)

Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 5,942 5,137

Post-employment benefits RIREF 429 481
Total compensation paid to key BENFEEEASMNE

management personnel “xa 6,371 5,618
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. =T HZEER
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBESHRSBEMTRAZRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT :
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
iRk 4
SIiRZ
EREE
HK$°000
F&T
Trade and bills receivables ERRTKENER 77,423
Financial assets included in prepayments, SABRRE
deposits and other receivables REREEREKRZ
tHEE 21,585
Due from a fellow subsidiary El-BREAKRBARRE 87
Cash and bank balances RERBTER 85,688
184,783
Financial liabilities b =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
s R A 5 BR
ZERAE
HK$°000
F#Erx
Trade payables FETBR TR 67,438
Financial liabilities included in other STAHERMRRESER
payables and accruals ZEMEE 33,963
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEEZRKMEBATRIE 11,659
Bank borrowings IRITE™N 122,074
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,371
240,505
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34.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

34.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(continued)

ER TR ZEER @)

REBSHRSEEMTAZRE
B80T @

At 31 December 2023 120235128318
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
Financial assets fair value
at fair value through other Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BAREE BAREE BREFERE
itAlBEz  HAHEZE SIERZ
THEE KEZEMEE THEE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TR TR
Financial asset at fair value BARBEHFAEEZSHEE
through profit or loss 9,000 - - 9,000
Equity investment designated ETARANBESA
at fair value through other HE2ENE T BARE
comprehensive income - 216 - 216
Trade and bills receivables WS REREE - - 104,801 104,801
Financial assets included in HABRHE  BER
prepayments, deposits and HEERZy $HBE
other receivables - - 44,916 44,916
Due from a fellow subsidiary EW—BRARBARZIE - - 312 32
Cash and bank balances RERBTES - - 162,442 162,442
9,000 216 31241 321,687
Financial liabilities EMaHE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
YR 8E A A 5 AR
ZEMEE
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables F& 1 BR =R 106,018
Financial liabilities included in other STAHECROMRRESER
payables and accruals ZEmMEE 63,428
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEE RN B AT RIE 12,458
Bank borrowings RITER 104,850
Lease liabilities HE&E 8,747
295,501

([ *rzesREAR
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35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

35.

TMITAZARBERAREE
ER

FEENEMTHE (BEHE
HIRE(ERAANBESEREERI)

reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows: FEEERAABENT :
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 20245 20235
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FTET FT#T FHET
Financial liabilities EHaME
Bank borrowings RITIE™ 122,074 104,850 120,693 104,676

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, an amount due from a fellow
subsidiary, cash and bank balances, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

BEEENE BRI B
RESARMRE -REKRETRE
W2 EMEE - BR—HRZRWE
NERIE - RERIBITEE « BIIR
BStAHERORKESBRZE
MEBERUKRENRRAWBEABDMREZ
ARBEEAHZBZREERE £
EHNZETAEREEHEANEER -

TRMEERBRZANEER
BRES GRaasusRHeE) 2B
ERRXZPAETIRNTRENEEA
fR - ERA TR ERRBRMAEF AR
BfE:
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ~ 35. R THZARBERRIAAEE
INSTRUMENTS (continued) F 1R ()

The fair value of the financial asset at fair value through BAREBEFABGZEMEE
profit or loss is based on the market values provided by the AR EBEAREBEEEERRSEH
licensed corporation at the end of the reporting period. FIRENTIZEBETE ©

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through BEanEBESFAHEEZAREZ
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices. RAZEZ AABETHERTIZHRE o

The fair values of bank borrowings have been calculated by RITERNAAEBENDZAERSE
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently LUER - EEREAFIRIEAANT
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and BIRAEMNXRGIRFARRAKEERE
remaining maturities. The fair values of the bank borrowings are FE - IRITERNAABESEAR
categorised in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. REEERANBFE2R
Fair value hierarchy ARBEZR

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRAAFEFEEHMTANAR
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: BEAEER:

Assets measured at fair value BARBEHAENEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Er FAET
Equity investment at fair value through other ~ RAREBESTAHTE
comprehensive income 2EBEZREKRE
- Fair value measurement using quoted — LURIB RS R(E
prices in active markets (Level 1) ETANEE
st& (F14R) - 216
Financial asset at fair value through profitor A REEFTAEBTZ
loss THMEE
— Fair value measurement using significant —UEKRTHRE&H A E
observable inputs (Level 2) EITARBESE
(5E24R) - 9,000

BAREBEFAHECZEAREZ
B ARG B 2024 FE 7B R BT iZE R iR =
iR o

The equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income was delisted from the NASDAQ Stock
Market in July 2024.

1 RS



Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

35.

36.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

During the year, except for the transfer of fair value
measurement from Level 1 into Level 3 for the equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
following the delisting of the shares during the year as disclosed
in note 19, there were no other transfer into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and bills receivables, other receivables, structured deposits,
trade payables, other payables and amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

35.

36.

EMITEZARABERAAEE
FR )

FREHEERSHABETE
FUREER A A BEEER
(20234F : &) o

FA - BRMEE1FMIRERERNE
RIVEHMGIEEARAREETA
HE2AKRZEZRABEZ AREE
SEREREASRIRI  BEHM
TRHEERSRABEEHARELFEIR
(20234 : #|®) o

TREREEBERRBER

FEENTESHRTAGERS
RBEEFEEE - ZEFTMIEMNE
ZENERNAEENEE - A&H
BEETRNHECEREERER W
FEWER AR U R 45 ~ HE U
EEMLEER - BARS - HEBIR
REMERMRBABRIE -

FEFEMTEEENTEZRE
BEMNRER - IMNERR - EERR
RABHELEAR EFGFTLHE
ARERILE RBEAEER » LR
o
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36.

166 B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and bank borrowings with a floating interest rate. The
Group has not used any interest rate derivatives to hedge its
interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents and bank
borrowings).

36.

ErRtEMEREBERBER @)

I 22 B

FEBEHTHANREFRRE
BHASERIPHNRABHRER
IRITHEBRUKRIRITERER - X&EH
WEERERMRGTET RN HE
MEREE > WRRERERZ B
BEARMEKRRE -

TERARBPERBEHEEHFRE
BHER FIXESEAREEHHAE
BRI AT RN E (BB F T
ERFF RN SFEBREBUKRIRITE

M T E) o

Increase/ Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) (decrease)

(decrease) in in loss in loss

basis points before tax before tax

PR AIASHR PRI AR 1R

i/ GEY) &/ Gh)

EEm/ 2024 2023

(AD) U4F 023F

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

HK$ BT 100 (134) (248)
RMB ARE 100 507 (315)
HK$ BT (100) 134 248
RMB N (100) (507) 315
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &rIEAMEBIEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk 5h 45 =L B

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such TEEEERZEKER - B
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies other AR REKESEMNEMNINERR
than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 1.7% (2023: LUSMN E ¥ Z SHE © £91.7% (20235 :
1.5%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other 1.5%) 2 R EREBEEBUETHE 2K
than the functional currencies of the operating units making the EEMNBEMUNEGEUIINEES
sale. EEEBAL -

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the TRRAPEMBHEEHFRAR
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in EBRHER  SMNEEXRSIEREEHY
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held NEERFRRA (B518) GFREREH
constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax. RO E -

Change in Increase/
foreign (decrease)
currency in loss
rate before tax
S5hEE BRMAIESIR
EXEE #Mm - (Rl)
% HK$’000
FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE204F128MBILEE
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTHR 1 (134)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTERLH (1) 134
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

36. SRIEMEEEEREE @)

Foreign currency risk (continued) S RE (|
Change in Increase/
foreign (decrease)
currency in loss

rate before tax
Hh it PRI AR 1R
EREE 18m (i)

% HK$'000
FAET
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F12B31BLLEE
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARERBTEERERTHR 1
If RMB strengthens against HK$ WEARERBTERLH (1
Credit risk EERME

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

FERELERARGEERFNS
ZHETRS c AEBHERE ° FR
BHEUGERRETRZNERITA
BBEERERRF © 15 > BIIR
BRERFFE R BRI > AEEVIRIRA

B o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &RiEGEIEREBERREEK @
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERR @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RE AR FFER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJNENRAEEZEEEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which ZEEEEREEEERAR  XEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REHREN (RIEHEENAIERAN
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HERABRERBIHBZHZERTER) >
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are MEKR12B31NB Z F &SR 247 o Fr
gross carrying amounts for financial assets. EYNEEATMEENRREE -
At 31 December 2024 42024128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fEA M
EE5HE SHEMEEHR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B B HIEER  MEERE E H
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T#w T#ERx F#w TEr F#Ewx
Trade receivables* PR TR - - - 59,743 59,743
Bills receivable e E 18,833 = = = 18,833
Due from a fellow subsidiary El—ER%
[ YNSIER 87 - - - 87
Financial assets included in HABRMRE  HE
prepayments, deposits and REERKHZ
other receivables EHEE
- Normal** —Eg" 21,634 - - - 21,634
Cash and bank balances RERIRITHEER
— Not yet past due —HREH 85,688 - - - 85,688
126,242 - - 59,743 185,985

004 [N
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &RiEGEIEBZEREBUER @)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RE AR ELEER (&)
At 31 December 2023 122023F 128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B FEHf
FEEE 2HEREEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FEE MR B WIEAHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FTER TiERT TER
Trade receivables* e AR TR - - - 72,586 72,586
Bills receivable ElER 33,963 - - - 33,963
Due from a fellow subsidiary El—ERZNBAR
MIE - - - 312 312
Financial assets included in HARMRIE - BER
prepayments, deposits and HEEKBRZ
other receivables EHMEE
- Normal** —Eg" 45,966 - - - 45,966
Cash and bank balances RERBITHER
~ Not yet past due — Mk 162,442 - - - 162,442
242371 } - 72,898 315,269
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MAEECAHRAERBEESEZRE
approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is WERAIM S » BERNEETRZE RN
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements. BIRRMIFE21HE o
*  The credit quality of bills receivables and financial assets included * o FATEMNRIE - RERETRKTRZIE
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to be WEEREMEEZEEERNGHE
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information FEETEAIARRAEATES) » L
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit BErENEHEMEEZEERREE
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the REEBLOREEE L - TR > BRIER
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. BEZEEEEHRATRIRI ©
RAEEFRAF
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36.
POLICIES (continued)

ErRtEREREBIERBER @)

RENE & AR
FEEZBRESEEBERIRTT

ERREEZRAREREUERE

EREHEREEE BN TE -

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans
and projected cash flows from operations.

RBERR > ZEEBUTIRGT

The Group has the following bank borrowings and lease

liabilities as at the end of the reporting period: ERRIEAE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Bank borrowings IRITIE™ 122,074 104,850
Lease liabilities ME&HE 5,371 8,747
127,445 113,597
Analysed into: PR P
Bank borrowings repayable: ARMUTHRBEERZN
SRITAEM
Within one year or on demand —FRHHEEK 122,074 96,492
In the second year ETHE = 8,358
122,074 104,850
Other borrowings repayable: ARUTHREEN
Hhfasx
Within one year or on demand —FRFHIFEK 2,192 5,678
In the second year g 2,000 1,278
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEFLF (BIEEEMF) 1,179 1,791
5,371 8,747
Total 4EEt 127,445 113,597
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. TRiEMEIZEBEZEREE @)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBE® AR (8@

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIFESFTAREIRNGR > &EH
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ETREAERRSHRZEBABERNT
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2024 20245E12A31H
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREKRY
—FEUTF —E5F mE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FERx FEx
Trade payables FE(TER R 67,438 - 67,438
Other payables and accruals HERARRESER 31,795 - 31,795
Bank borrowings RITER 123,412 - 123,412
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,338 3,305 5,643
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEftE R M B A RRIE 11,659 - 11,659
236,642 3,305 239,947
31 December 2023 2023%F12831H
On demand
or no later 1t0
than 1 year 5 years Total
BEKRH
—ELTF —ERE FRbE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FERT FET
Trade payables FE(TERTR 106,018 - 106,018
Other payables and accruals HERNMRESER 63,428 - 63,428
Bank borrowings IRITEN 99,155 8,367 107,522
Lease liabilities HEaR 5,970 3,257 9,227
Due to fellow subsidiaries EE R BARRE 12,458 - 12,458
287,029 11,624 298,653
RAEEFRAF
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36.

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is debt divided by the equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company. Debt includes bank borrowings. Capital includes equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

36.

ErRtEREREBIERBER @)

BFXER

FEFEAEENTIEZBRER
EAEBFECENESN  LREFR
BHEARLER UXFEEBFALEIR
REREESRKIE-

75 £ B AR $5 A K i 2 Bl B AR B
EEMNRBEHEEEAREBT Y
HE  ABBHARELRGEE A&
ErRAERREIRCHRE « @BRE
REBEXRFBITHRGD - £EEART
ERIMNEBHENN B E B RFAIR - B E
2024 FE 2023 FE 2B B LLEEE » B
BEANBEE  BRKIEF L mES o

FEBFEREAEELE AR
BRUSABRREGED ERE
& EHEFERITER - BEXEES
AEIRREGED - BERSHRD
BERBRLERMNT:

2024 2023

20245 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FBT

Bank borrowings RITEM 122,074 104,850
Equity attributable to shareholders of the AT REL D

Company 505,838 592,071

Gearing ratio BARBMELEE 24.1% 17.7%

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and

re-presented to conform to the current year’s presentation.

37.

EEERE 2R

EEMDEREIETFTLERE
B UNEEFEENETAR -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2024 20244F 12531 H

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AABZHMFEAKRRR
Information about the statement of financial position of the BRARRBTNREARZ A FHEAK
Company as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZEBNMT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENE E
Plant and equipment iR B2 R 5% 28 51
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 3,967
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZKRE 296,281 296,281
Due from subsidiaries FEUL I B A B IE 167,773 234,056
Total non-current assets ERBEELEE 464,082 534,355
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Deposits and other receivables BERETCRKER 2,324 2,218
Cash and bank balances R RIRIT4HERR 41,363 58,051
Total current assets MBEEHEE 43,687 60,269
CURRENT LIABILITIES it =N
Other payables HERBMR 2,044 2,691
Lease liabilities HEAaR 60 4,300
Total current liabilities mEIBEMEEE 2,104 6,991
NET CURRENT ASSETS e s ERE 41,583 53,278
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #23 &R B & 18 505,665 587,633
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENE®E
Lease liabilities HEAaE - 60
NET ASSETS BEEFE 505,665 587,573
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITRZS 215,004 215,004
Reserves (note) i (fsE) 290,661 372,569
TOTAL EQUITY RExE4AEE 505,665 587,573
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETERRMEE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

38.

Annual Report 2024

AT ZHBERRE @)

MizE . AREARFBEZHMEOT

Retained
Capital Capital Exchange profits/
Share redemption contribution fluctuation  (accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
BX R ER REEHN/
B EE B Gt REGE  (RHER) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000
T F#En F#En TFi#En TR TR
At 1 January 2023 1202351811 355,703 67 88,441 (36,523) 26,077 433,765
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - (54,129) (54,129)
Exchange differences arising on translation  EA AR MBHRREE
of the Company's financial statements ZERES - - - (1477) - (1477)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEERERRLEE - - - (1477) (54,129) (55,608)
Final dividends for the nine months ended B ERE E20225F
31 December 2022 declared 12B31RIENEAR
BEERE - - - - (5,590) (5,590)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 122023128318 K&
024&181A7 355,703 67 88,441 (38,000) (33,642) 372,569
Loss for the year FEEHH - - - - (74,386) (74,386)
Exchange difference arising on translation BB A AR HBRREE
of the Company's financial statements ZERES - - - (1,932) - (1,932)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEERERRLEE - - - (1,932) (74,386) (76,318)
Final dividends for the the year ended EEREBEADE
31 December 2023 declared 12R31BLEFER
*EBE (5,590) - - - - (5,590)
At 31 December 2024 1202412318 350,113 67 88,441 (39,932) (108,028) 290,661
39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. MBHmARZHE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

MBEImREMN2025F3IF280 %
FERERALAETIE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A

RESULTS
e
Nine months
ended
31 December
#ZE  Year ended 31 December
Year ended 31 March 128318 #ZE12831H
HE3ANHIEEE LLEhER ILFE
2021 2022 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FET FERx
Revenue WA 474,332 509,955 410,021 532,089 329,937
Loss before tax PRI EIES 18 (27,442) (28,018) (47,890) (25,694) (54,340)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FrSiR iK%,/ (X H) 1,524 6,343 3,647 689 (7,074)
Loss for the period/year THBE EEBR (25,918) (21,675) (44,243) (25,005) (61,414)
Loss attributable to: BiEEBN .
Shareholders of the PN |3
Company (27,142) (19,771) (40,977 (24,155) (61,371)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR = 1,224 (1,904) (3,266) (850) (43)
(25,918) (21,675) (44,243) (25,005) (61,414)
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
Al Al Al =311 Al
Loss per share SREBE (1.26) (0.92) (1.91) (1.12) (2.85)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEERERE
At 31 March At 31 December
38318 128318
2021 2022 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FET FEx
Total assets BEHE 1,133,461 1,164,151 1,088,468 917,291 765,022
Total liabilities BERE (342,966) (375,076) (434,226) (325,350) (259,357)
790,495 789,075 654,242 591,941 505,665
Equity attributable to AATIRRE
shareholders of the R
Company 756,709 756,754 627,831 592,071 505,838
Non-controlling interests FEERR R 33,786 32,321 26,411 (130) (173)
790,495 789,075 654,242 591,941 505,665
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